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The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) constitutes management’s assessment of the financial condition
and results of operations of Quinsam Capital Corporation (“Quinsam”, the “Company” or “We”) for the year ended December
31, 2021. It is supplemental to and should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements of Quinsam for the years
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (the “2021 Financial Statements”). Except as otherwise indicated (see “Use of Non-IFRS
Financial Measures” section in this MD&A), the 2021 Financial Statements and the financial information contained in this MD&A
have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee. In the opinion of
management, all adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. In preparing this MD&A,
management has taken into account information available up to May 2, 2022, and all figures are reported in Canadian dollars (“$”
or “CAD”) unless otherwise stated.
This MD&A has been prepared to comply with the requirements of National Instrument 51-102 – Continuous Disclosure
Obligations of the Canadian Securities Administrators (“CSA”) and Staff Notice 51-352 (Revised) Issuers with U.S. MarijuanaRelated Activities (the “Staff Notice”).
About Quinsam Capital Corporation
Quinsam was incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act on March 18, 2004 in the Province of British Columbia.
The Company is a merchant banking firm focused on the small-cap market with early-stage investments in the the technology,
healthcare, mining exploration, e-sports, and cannabis markets. The Company’s business may encompass a wide range of activities
including acquisitions, advisory services, lending activities and portfolio investments. Quinsam invests its capital for its own
account in assets, companies or projects which management believes are undervalued and where we see a viable plan for unlocking
such value. The Company does not invest on behalf of any third-party and does not offer investment advice.
The Company’s common shares are listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE”) under the ticker symbol “QCA”.
The Company’s registered office address is at 77 King Street West, Suite 2905, Toronto, Ontario, M5K 1H1, Canada.
Outlook
Canadian capital markets have been extremely volatile in the past year as a result of the war in Ukraine, rising interest rates,
changing commodity prices and the continued evolution of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic and its impact on
the economy. Volatility is high, particularly in small cap markets. There remains substantial uncertainty about future economic
conditions and market performance.
Quinsam continues to consider new cannabis sector investments. However, management is primarily interested in investments in
other small cap market sectors. We have not acquired any new cannabis investments since July 2021.
While the legislative climate for cannabis remains in flux in the United States (the “U.S.”), management believes that, if progress
with legalization reforms continues in the U.S., merger & acquisition (“M&A”) activity in the U.S. market will increase. With
Canadian legalization of recreational cannabis and edibles having already laid the foundation for the industry, the Company
expects to continue providing assistance to our investee companies as they look to make acquisitions, undertake M&A
transactions, and undertake other strategic growth initiatives.
Corporate Developments
On February 25, 2021, the Company paid its Q4 2020 quarterly dividend of $0.00125 per share, to shareholders of record on
February 4, 2021.
On May 28, 2021, the Company paid its Q1 2021 dividend of $0.00125 per share, to shareholders of record on May 7, 2021.
On May 31, 2021, the Company granted 2,240,000 stock options to various officers and directors. The options are exercisable at
$0.19 per share and vested immediately on grant. The Company also granted 774,000 deferred share units (“DSUs”) to an officer,
as payment of the management bonus related to its investments portfolio performance that was accrued for Fiscal 2020.
On August 27, 2021, the Company paid its Q2 2021 dividend of $0.00125 per share, to shareholders of record on August 6, 2021.
On November 26, 2021, the Company paid its Q3 2021 dividend of $0.00125 per share, to shareholders of record on November
5, 2021.
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On November 26, 2021, the Company also held its annual general meeting of shareholders. Roger Dent, Eric Szustak, Ross
Geddes and Anthony Roodenberg were all re-elected as directors. Susan Lambie was also elected as a new director to the Board
of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company.
On January 24, 2022, the Board approved a quarterly dividend of $0.00125 per share. The dividend distribution was paid on
February 25, 2022, to shareholders of record on February 4, 2022. It marked the 30th consecutive quarter in which Quinsam had
issued dividends to its shareholders.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company also repurchased 4,949,000 common shares under a normal course
issuer bid (the “Bid”).
Impact of COVID-19
On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization (the “WHO”) declared the COVID-19 outbreak a global health emergency,
and on March 11, 2020, the spread of COVID-19 was declared a global pandemic by the WHO. At the time of issuance of this
MD&A, COVID-19 continues to evolve, and has had far-reaching impact on businesses and individuals globally. As Quinsam
has operated on a “virtual basis” for a number of years, the general closure of non-essential businesses in response to the outbreak
has not significantly impacted the Company’s day-to-day operations.
As the COVID crisis continued to progress, it was generally reported that there was increasing consumer interest in legal cannabis
products. In Canada, there had also been general progress in the rollout of edible products and retail locations. As a result of
these factors and a general improvement in market conditions, Quinsam has seen a rebound in our investments portfolio and the
market since the fall-out in March 2020. That being said, overall market conditions remain extremely volatile and at times,
irrational. Until global economies stabilize, management will remain cautious in overseeing its investments portfolio.
Canadian Companies with U.S. Marijuana-Related Assets
On February 8, 2018, the CSA published the Staff Notice, which provides specific disclosure expectations for issuers that currently
have, or are in the process of developing, cannabis-related activities in the U.S. as permitted within a particular state’s regulatory
framework. All issuers with U.S. cannabis-related activities are expected to clearly and prominently disclose certain prescribed
information in required disclosure documents.
Such disclosure includes, but is not limited to: (i) a description of the nature of a reporting issuer’s involvement in the U.S.
cannabis industry; (ii) disclosure that cannabis is illegal under U.S. federal law and that enforcement of relevant laws is a significant
risk; (iii) related risks including, among others, the risk that third-party service providers could suspend or withdraw services and
the risk that regulatory bodies could impose certain restrictions on the issuer’s ability to operate in the U.S.; and (iv) a discussion
of the reporting issuer’s ability to access public and private capital, including which financing options are and are not available to
support continuing operations. Additional disclosures are required to the extent a reporting issuer is deemed to be directly or
indirectly engaged in the U.S. cannabis industry, or deemed to have “ancillary industry involvement”, all as further described in
the Staff Notice.
At this time, Quinsam’s involvement in the U.S. cannabis industry is limited and its industry involvement of cannabis activities is
“Indirect” through investments in certain entities (the “Investees”) operating in the U.S. cannabis industry. In addition, the
Company does not operate, nor control any entities that is directly engaged in the cultivation or distribution of cannabis in
accordance with a U.S. state license. As a result of the Investees having cannabis operations in the U.S. (as described below), the
Company is subject to the requirements of the Staff Notice and accordingly provides the following disclosures:
Compliance with applicable state laws in the U.S.
The Company has not obtained legal advice regarding compliance with applicable state regulatory frameworks and exposure and
implication arising from U.S. federal laws in the states where its Investees conduct operations. For each of the Investees involved
in the U.S. cannabis industry listed in the below summary, to the best of the Company’s knowledge, we are not aware of any noncompliance with applicable licensing requirements and the regulatory framework enacted by the applicable U.S. state for any of
such Investees’ business and the Company is not aware of: (i) any non-compliance by these Investees with respect to cannabisrelated activities, or (ii) any notices of violation with respect to any Investees’ cannabis-related activities by its respective regulatory
authorities.
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Nature of investments with U.S. cannabis-related activities
Blackshire Capital Corp. (California, Washington)
In October 2018, Quinsam subscribed for units of Blackshire Capital Corp. (“Blackshire”) for $385,000. Each unit comprised of
one common share and one half warrant exercisable for 24 months. Blackshire is an investor and asset manager focused on
investing growth capital in the securities of private cannabis companies on a global basis, with positions in emerging cannabis
companies operating out of Canada, in the states of California and Washington, respectively. As of the date of this MD&A,
Quinsam continues to hold a position in the common shares of Blackshire.
CLS Holdings USA Inc. (Nevada)
In December 2018, Quinsam subscribed for convertible debentures of CLS Holdings USA Inc. (“CLS”) for USD $400,000, which
bear interest at 8% per annum for a term of three years. At Quinsam’s option, the debentures are convertible into units at USD
$0.80 per share. CLS is an integrated cannabis producer and retailer through its Oasis Cannabis subsidiaries in Nevada. CLS’s
business model includes licensing and processing operations, processing facilities, sale of products, brand creation and consulting
services. As of the date of this MD&A, Quinsam continues to hold a position in the debentures and warrants of CLS.
Core Process Solutions Inc. (Colorado)
In November 2018, Quinsam subscribed for special warrants of Core Process Solutions Inc. (“Core Process”) for $375,000, which
had since been converted into shares. In May 2021, Quinsam also subscribed for a new debenture of Core Process for $125,000.
Core Process sells extraction systems, solvents for extraction of oil, and derivatives from plant materials using carbon dioxide
technology, supercritical and subcritical fluids extraction, and chromatograph processes. In March 2020, it became involved with
Pueblo West Organics, LLC (“PWO”), a cannabis license holder in Colorado, which had negotiated contracts for trim to be
extracted using its CO2 equipment and technology to produce distillate. Core Process is focused on PWO and is looking to build
PWO into a multi-million dollar fully integrated cannabis facility. As of the date of this MD&A, Quinsam continues to hold a
position in the common shares and debentures of Core Process.
Corsica Innovations Inc. (Colorado)
In March 2019, Quinsam subscribed for convertible debentures of Corsica Innovations Inc. (“Corsica”) for $250,000. Each unit
comprised of a principal amount of $1,000 and four warrants exercisable for 36 months. The debenture units are convertible into
shares at a conversion price of $0.25 for 36 months. Based in Boulder, Colorado, Corsica manufactures and markets Plug N’ Plant
cannabis growing systems, which monitor various aspects of grow box and keep it at optimal settings for plant growth: nutrient
dosing, pH balancing, light, temperature, water level, and ventilation controls. As of the date of this MD&A, Quinsam continues
to hold a position in the debentures and warrants of Corsica.
Evio Inc. (California, Florida, Oregon, Washington)
In January 2018, Quinsam subscribed for convertible debentures of Evio Inc. (“Evio”) for USD $450,000. Each unit is comprised
of one common share and one half warrant exercisable for 18 months. In Q2 2019, the Company subscribed for additional units
of Evio for $80,084, comprised of one common share and one warrant exercisable for 24 months. Evio provides advisory,
management, and analytical testing services to the legalized cannabis industry in the U.S. It also offers industry research, business
and market intelligence, market forecasts, and operational insights; and consulting services, including license application support,
regulatory compliance, and operating services for current and prospect licensed cannabis businesses. Evio is publicly-traded on
the OTC market in the U.S. As of the date of this MD&A, Quinsam continues to hold a position in the debentures of Evio.
Flower One Holdings Inc. (Nevada)
In March 2019, Quinsam subscribed for convertible debentures of Flower One Holdings Inc. (“Flower One”) for $450,000
through a prospectus offering. Each unit comprised of a principal amount of $1,000 and 192 warrant exercisable for 36 months.
The debenture units are also convertible into shares at a price of $0.26 for 36 months. In February 2021, the Company subscribed
for additional debentures of $176,348. Since then, certain debentures had been converted into shares. Flower One is the largest
cannabis cultivator, producer, and full-service brand fulfillment partner in the state of Nevada. It produces a wide range of
cannabis products ranging from wholesale flower, full-spectrum oils, and distillates to finished consumer packaged goods
including flower, pre-rolls, concentrates, edibles, beverages, and topicals. Its 400,000 square feet (“sq. ft.”) greenhouse and 55,000
sq. ft. production facility are used for large scale cannabis cultivation, processing, and manufacturing. It also operates a second
facility in North Las Vegas with 25,000 sq. ft. of indoor cultivation and production capacity. As of the date of this MD&A,
Quinsam continues to hold a position in the common shares, warrants and debentures of Flower One.
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Gefion Canada Inc. (Various states in the U.S.)
In September 2018, Quinsam subscribed for shares of Gefion Canada Inc. (“Gefion”) for $300,000, and it subscribed for an
additional investment of $60,000 in September 2020. Gefion is a private Canadian corporation which has licensed transdermal
delivery technology from BioPhysics Pharma, Inc., for the development and sale of herbal extracts products which include
cannabis and hemp-based products. In Canada, Gefion has developed products for entry into the CBD OTC market. In the U.S.,
it sells formula bases in bulk to extractors in all states. As of the date of this MD&A, Quinsam continues to hold a position in the
common shares of Gefion.
Ikänik Farms Inc. (California)
In May 2019, Quinsam subscribed for convertible debentures of Ikänik Farms Inc. (“Ikänik”) for USD $300,000, which bear
interest at 6% per annum for a term of two years. The debentures had since been extended to August 2022. Ikänik is a Californiabased multi‐national operator who is building a portfolio of brands, supported by its vertically integrated retail, distribution and
cultivation in California and its medical grade cultivation and laboratory in Colombia. Ikänik’s operation in Colombia, through its
pharma division Pideka, holds both GMP‐PHARMA and Good Agricultural and Collection Practice (GACP) certifications for
its Casa Flores operating facility. As of the date of this MD&A, Quinsam continues to hold a position in the common shares and
debentures of Ikänik.
High Fusion Inc. (formerly Nutritional High International Inc.) (California, Colorado, Oregon)
In March 2018, Quinsam subscribed for convertible debentures of High Fusion Inc. (“High Fusion”) for $750,000. In May 2020,
Quinsam subscribed for additional debentures from a new round of financing for $50,000; each debenture unit is comprised of
(i) $10,000 principal amount of 12% unsecured debentures convertible at $0.05, and (ii) 20,000 warrants exercisable for a period
of 36 months from closing. High Fusion has manufacturing, retail and grow operations in California through its acquisition of
the business of OutCo Labs Inc. and owns and operates oil extraction and edible manufacturing facilities in Colorado and Oregon.
Its brand portfolio includes FLÏ™ edibles and vape product, OutCo, Thrive, and Red Octopus. As of the date of this MD&A,
Quinsam continues to hold a position in the common shares, warrants and debentures of High Fusion.
OG DNA Genetics Inc. (California and various states)
In 2017, Quinsam subscribed for common shares and units of Seed Capital Corp. (“Seed Capital”) for $200,000. Seed Capital was
acquired by OG DNA Genetics Inc. (“OG DNA”) through an amalgamation agreement, whereby DNA issued securities for
each Seed Capital security at an exchange ratio of 0.294962. OG DNA was founded in Amsterdam and is currently based in Los
Angeles, California. It owns a seasoned genetic library and developed proven standard operating procedures for genetic selection,
breeding, and cultivation. OG DNA is licensed in over 10 distinct jurisdictions, including Canada, and states such as Nevada,
Pennsylvania, and Michigan, to name a few. As of the date of this MD&A, Quinsam continues to hold a position in the common
shares of OG DNA.
As at December 31, 2021, the Company held the following investments in the cannabis sector:
Investees
1193269 BC Ltd. d/b/a Shelter
Cannabis
Aion Therapeutics Inc. (formerly
Osoyoos Cannabis Inc.)
Aleafia Health Inc.
Asterion Cannabis Inc.
Blackshire Capital Corp.
Budd Hutt Inc.
Canada House Wellness Group Inc.
CanaQuest Medical Corp.

Investment
relationship

Investment type

Jurisdiction

Industry
involvement 1

Private

Shares

Canada

N/A

Publicly-listed

Warrants

Canada

N/A

7,871

1,228

Under 10%

Publicly-listed
Private
Private

Convertible debentures
Shares
Shares

N/A
N/A
Indirect

355,991
305,292
335,124

275,000
310,960
-

Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

Private

Shares, loans &
promissory notes
Loans
Shares

Canada
Canada, Australia
U.S. (California,
Washington)
Canada

N/A

2,866,517

2,558,571

17% 2

Canada
Canada

N/A
N/A

78,153
140,479

150,000
155,753

Under 10%
Under 10%

Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed

Cost
$
100,000

Fair value
$
-

Company’s
ownership %
Under 10%

Industry involvement refers to Quinsam’s involvement in regard to the Investees with cannabis-related activities in the U.S. For greater clarity per the Staff Notice, Investees classified as “Indirect” in this column
generally represents entities with a license to either cultivate and/or sell cannabis in the U.S., and for which Quinsam has an equity or “convertible-into-equity” stake in that particular investee.
1

In June 2020, Budd Hutt Inc. (“Butt Hutt”) received a retail cannabis license from Alberta Gaming, Liquor and Cannabis ("AGLC") at its Grand Cache, Alberta location. Three other locations are undergoing
final inspections by the AGLC during June 2020. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company increased its investment to $2.7 million, from its initial investment of $1.1 million, under an additional
loan and promissory note arrangement with Budd Hutt, which represents an ownership stake of approximately 17%.
2
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CBD Acres Management Inc.
City View Green Holdings Inc.

Private
Publicly-listed

CLS Holdings USA Inc.
Core Process Solutions Inc.

Publicly-listed
Private

Corsica Innovations Inc.

Private

Discover Wellness Solutions Inc.
Eden Empire Inc.
Embark Health Inc.
Eve & Co Inc.
Evio Inc.

Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Private
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed

First Helium Inc.
Flower One Holdings Inc.

Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed

Frontier Wellness Management Inc.

Private

Gefion Canada Inc.
Good Buds Company Ltd.
Green Stripe Naturals Ltd.

Private
Private
Private

Harvest One Cannabis Inc.
Hemp Hydrate Int’l Holdings Inc.
Hempsana Holdings Inc.
High Fusion Inc. (formerly
Nutritional High International Inc.)

Publicly-listed
Private
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed

Ikänik Farms Inc.

Publicly-listed

King and Pegahmagabow Inc.
Med. Compassion Canni Farms Inc.
Miraculo Inc.
Molecule Holdings Inc.

Private
Private
Private
Publicly-listed

Shares
Shares & promissory
notes
Convertible debentures
Shares & convertible
debentures
Convertible debentures
& warrants
Shares
Shares
Shares
Shares
Shares & convertible
debentures

Shares & warrants
Shares, convertible
debentures & warrants
Shares & convertible
debentures
Shares
Shares
Shares & convertible
debentures
Shares & warrants
Shares
Shares
Convertible debentures
& warrants

Private

Shares, convertible
debentures & warrants
Convertible debentures
Loans
Shares
Convertible debentures
& warrants
Shares

Orchid Ventures Inc.
Pharmadrug Inc.

Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed

Shares & warrants
Warrants

Pharmex Life Sciences Inc.
Phytopharma International Ltd.
PlantExt Ltd.
Pure Global Cannabis Inc.
Segra International Corp.
SugarBud Craft Growers Corp.
Swiss Luxe Products Inc.
The Flowr Corporation

Private
Private
Private
Publicly-listed
Private
Publicly-listed
Private
Publicly-listed

Shares
Convertible debentures
Shares
Convertible debentures
Shares
Shares & warrants
Shares
Warrants

Trees Corporation
Verabys Inc.
Xebra Brands Ltd.

Publicly-listed
Private
Publicly-listed

Shares
Shares
Shares & warrants

OG DNA Genetics Inc.

Canada
Canada

N/A
N/A

510,000
1,219,323

54,740
2,661,304

Under 10%
12% 3

U.S. (Nevada)
U.S. (Colorado)

Indirect
Indirect

582,640
350,000

610,784
272,310

Under 10%
Under 10%

U.S. (Colorado)

Indirect

250,000

260,580

Under 10%

Canada
Canada
Canada
Canada, Germany
U.S. (Colorado,
California, Florida,
Massachusetts,
Oregon)
Canada
U.S. (Nevada)

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
Indirect

525,000
393,444
408,082
578,758
557,295

51,250
58,459
86,210
20,334
783,315

Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

N/A
Indirect

255,715
578,848

212,051
172,657

Under 10%
Under 10%

Spain

N/A

399,998

97,333

Under 10%

4

Canada, U.S.
Canada
Jamaica

N/A
N/A
N/A

360,000
411,186
790,000

360,000
99,330
1,292,276

Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

Canada
Canada
Canada
U.S. (Colorado,
California,
Oregon)
U.S. (California)

N/A
N/A
N/A
Indirect

240,250
401,322
480,000
50,000

116,250
80,000
38,477

Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

Indirect

434,610

203,649

Under 10%

Canada
Canada
Canada
Canada

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

888,094
3,059,891
369,375
350,000

1,053,316
3,059,891
14,246
379,329

Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

U.S. (California
and other states) 5
Canada
Germany, the
Netherlands
Mexico
Israel
Israel
Canada
Canada
Canada
Canada
Canada, Portugal,
Australia
Canada
Columbia
Colombia, Mexico

Indirect

177,279

130,883

Under 10%

N/A
Indirect

272,355
288

162,682
8,910

Under 10%
Under 10%

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

284,091
408,844
317,988
153,408
348,905
300,000
200,000
11,654

225,500
555,187
39,334
182,448
200,000
50,080
13

Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

N/A
N/A
N/A

500,000
350,000
317,562

565,760
782,672

Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

22,275,632

18,393,072

City View Green Holdings Inc. (“CVGH”) is an investment which Quinsam had held prior to CVGH’s RTO transaction with 2590672 Ontario Inc. As at December 31, 2021, Quinsam holds approximately 12%
of CVGH’s common shares. Quinsam remains a passive investor and does not participate in any decision-making of CVGH. CVGH, through its subsidiary, 2590672 Ontario Inc., also owns approximately 27.5%
of issued shares of Butt Hutt.
3

Gefion Canada Inc., through service agreements with third-parties, has access to OTC retail distribution channels for all 50 states in the U.S. Its products contain hemp extracts with CBD with 0.3% or less THC
which are sold throughout the U.S. pursuant to the recently enacted 2018 Farm Act.
4

OG DNA Genetics Inc. has entered into various licensing agreements with cannabis producers in ten distinct jurisdictions, including Canada, and U.S. states such as Nevada, Pennsylvania, and Michigan, to name
a few. For confidentiality reasons, some states cannot be named.
5
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As at December 31, 2020, the Company held the following investments in the cannabis sector:
Investees
AgraFlora Organics International Inc.
(formerly Spectrum Brands Canada
Inc.)
Aion Therapeutics Inc. (formerly
Osoyoos Cannabis Inc.)
Aleafia Health Inc.
Ancient Strains Limited
Asterion Cannabis Inc.
Blackshire Capital Corp.
Budd Hutt Inc.

Investment
relationship

Investment type

Jurisdiction

Industry
involvement 6

Publicly-listed

Shares

Canada

Publicly-listed

Shares, convertible
debentures & warrants
Convertible debentures
Shares & warrants
Shares
Shares

Publicly-listed
Private
Private
Private
Private

Shares, loans &
promissory notes
Shares

C21 Investments Inc.

Publicly-listed

Canada House Wellness Group Inc.

Publicly-listed

CanaQuest Medical Corp.
Cansortium Inc.

Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed

CBD Acres Management Inc.
City View Green Holdings Inc.
CLS Holdings USA Inc.
Core Process Solutions Inc.
Corsica Innovations Inc.
Discover Wellness Solutions Inc.
(formerly Rocky Mountain Marijuana
Inc.)
Eden Empire Inc.
Embark Health Inc.
Eve & Co Inc.
Evergreen Reinsurance
Evio Inc.

Private
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Private
Private
Publicly-listed

Shares
Shares
Convertible debentures
Shares
Convertible debentures
Shares

Private
Private
Publicly-listed
Private
Publicly-listed

Shares
Shares
Shares & warrants
Shares
Convertible debentures
& warrants

Flower One Holdings Inc.
Frontier Wellness Management Inc.

Publicly-listed
Private

Gefion Canada Inc.
Georgian Bay Biomed Inc.
Good Buds Company Ltd.
Green Stripe Naturals Ltd.
Harborside Inc.

Private
Private
Private
Private
Publicly-listed

Convertible debentures
Shares & convertible
debentures
Shares
Shares
Shares & warrants
Shares & warrants
Warrants

Private
Private

Shares
Shares

Hemp Hydrate Int’l Holdings Inc.
Hempsana Inc.

Convertible debentures
& warrants
Shares
Convertible debentures
& warrants

Company’s
ownership %

N/A

Cost
$
330,667

Fair value
$
24,895

Canada

N/A

493,687

722,985

Under 10%

Canada
Uruguay
Canada, Australia
U.S. (California,
Washington)
Canada

N/A
N/A
N/A
Indirect

355,991
400,000
305,292
335,124

364,533
728,960
39,305

Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

N/A

2,806,518

2,773,571

17% 7

U.S. (Nevada,
Oregon)
Canada

Indirect

194,676

294,999

Under 10%

N/A

150,000

124,309

Under 10%

Canada
U.S. (Florida,
Michigan,
Pennsylvania,
Texas)
Canada
Canada
U.S. (Nevada)
U.S. (Colorado)
U.S. (Colorado)
Canada

N/A
Indirect

173,059
539,120

79,575
515,446

Under 10%
Under 10%

N/A
N/A
Indirect
Indirect
Indirect
N/A

510,000
697,025
582,640
225,000
250,000
525,000

226,191
1,896,492
477,015
225,000
318,093
410,000

Under 10%
12% 8
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

Canada
Canada
Canada, Germany
Canada
U.S. (Colorado,
California, Florida,
Massachusetts,
Oregon)
U.S. (Nevada)
Spain

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
Indirect

393,444
408,082
684,617
325,000
582,563

350,755
942,880
70,330
220,000
652,048

Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

Indirect
N/A

395,281
499,998

121,951
171,333

Under 10%
Under 10%

Canada, U.S. 9
Canada
Canada
Jamaica
U.S. (California,
Oregon)
Canada
Canada

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
Indirect

360,000
263,808
495,000
640,000
62,658

360,000
300,000
445,309
1,140,000
864

Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

N/A
N/A

401,321
480,000

839,790
449,200

Under 10%
Under 10%

Under 10%

Industry involvement refers to Quinsam’s involvement in regard to the Investees with cannabis-related activities in the U.S. For greater clarity per the Staff Notice, Investees classified as “Indirect” in this column
generally represents entities with a license to either cultivate and/or sell cannabis in the U.S., and for which Quinsam has an equity or “convertible-into-equity” stake in that particular investee.
6

In June 2020, Budd Hutt Inc. (“Butt Hutt”) received a retail cannabis license from Alberta Gaming, Liquor and Cannabis ("AGLC") at its Grand Cache, Alberta location. Three other locations are undergoing
final inspections by the AGLC during June 2020. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company increased its investment to $2.7 million, from its initial investment of $1.1 million, under an additional
loan and promissory note arrangement with Budd Hutt, which represents an ownership stake of approximately 17%.
7

City View Green Holdings Inc. (“CVGH”) is an investment which Quinsam had held prior to CVGH’s RTO transaction with 2590672 Ontario Inc. As at December 31, 2020, Quinsam holds approximately
11.9% of CVGH’s common shares. Quinsam remains a passive investor and does not participate in any decision-making of CVGH. CVGH, through its subsidiary, 2590672 Ontario Inc., also owns approximately
27.5% of issued shares of Butt Hutt.
8

Gefion Canada Inc., through service agreements with third-parties, has access to OTC retail distribution channels for all 50 states in the U.S. Its products contain hemp extracts with CBD with 0.3% or less THC
which are sold throughout the U.S. pursuant to the recently enacted 2018 Farm Act.
9
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Herbiculture Inc.

Private

Loans

U.S. (Maryland)

Indirect

1,112,676

1,078,701

Ikänik Farms Inc.

Private

U.S. (California)

Indirect

434,610

488,392

Right to 35%
interest 10
Under 10%

Canada

N/A

361,307

398,641

Under 10%

Private
Private
Private

Convertible debentures
& warrants
Convertible debentures
& warrants
Convertible debentures
Loans
Shares

Canada
Canada
Canada

N/A
N/A
N/A

1,220,000
2,000,000
369,375

1,049,436
2,000,000
133,203

Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

Publicly-listed

Shares

Canada

N/A

200,000

200,000

Under 10%

Publicly-listed

Shares, convertible
debentures & warrants

U.S. (Colorado,
California,
Washington,
Nevada, Oregon)
U.S. (California
and other states) 11
Germany, the
Netherlands
Mexico
U.S. (Arizona)
Israel
Israel
Canada

Indirect

848,914

430,512

Under 10%

Indirect

177,279

131,441

Under 10%

Indirect

65,754

24,608

Under 10%

N/A
Indirect
N/A
N/A
N/A

300,000
198,775
408,844
317,988
350,000

931,822
331,032
610,157
79,002
-

Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

Canada
Canada

N/A
N/A

348,905
127,194

182,448
149,761

Under 10%
Under 10%

U.S. (California,
Nevada, Oregon)
Canada
Panama
Columbia
Colombia, Mexico

Indirect

200,000

179,298

Under 10%

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

200,000
143,886
350,000
190,000

70,320
103,557
175,000
390,000

Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

24,791,078

24,423,160

Inner Spirit Holdings Ltd.
King and Pegahmagabow Inc.
Med. Compassion Canni Farms Inc.
Miraculo Inc. (formerly Cannabiverse
Inc.)
Molecule Holdings Inc. (Molecule
Inc.)
Nutritional High International Inc.

OG DNA Genetics Inc.

Publicly-listed

Private

Shares

Pharmadrug Inc.

Publicly-listed

Warrants

Pharmex Life Sciences Inc.
Phoenix Extractions Inc.
Phytopharma International Ltd.
PlantExt Ltd.
Pure Global Cannabis Inc.

Private
Private
Private
Private
Publicly-listed

Segra International Corp.
Sproutly Inc.

Private
Publicly-listed

Stem Holdings Inc. (formerly 7LV
Seven Leafs Ventures Corporation)
Swiss Luxe Products Inc.
Theracann Int’l Benchmark Corp.
Verabys Inc.
Xebra Brands Ltd.

Publicly-listed

Shares & warrants
Convertible debentures
Convertible debentures
Shares
Convertible debentures
& warrants
Shares
Special warrants &
convertible debentures
Shares, convertible
debentures & warrants
Shares
Convertible debentures
Shares
Shares

Private
Private
Private
Private

The Company’s financial position for U.S. cannabis-related activities is strictly comprised of its investments portfolio. The
following is a summary of the Investees from the cannabis sector, including those having U.S. cannabis-related activities, as at
December 31, 2021 and 2020:

Equities
Warrants
Convertible debentures
Loans

All cannabis investments
Cost
Fair value
$
$
11,387,964
7,708,837
699,305
357,210
4,075,319
4,417,134
6,113,044
5,909,891

Investees involved in
U.S. cannabis activities
Cost
Fair value
$
$
1,418,203
636,425
244,562
35,544
1,835,752
2,069,107
-

Total

22,275,632

3,498,517

December 31, 2021
By type

18,393,072

2,741,076

In Q4 2017, the Company signed an agreement with Herbiculture Inc. to finance the start-up costs of establishing a medical marijuana dispensary located in Maryland. The financing is structured as a USD
$655,000 senior secured promissory note bearing interest at 10% with a 3-year term. On February 12, 2018, Herbiculture received a marijuana processor license from the MMCC to commence dispensary
operations. On Herbiculture’s receipt of the processor license, Quinsam was granted a right to a 35% interest of Herbiculture’s common shares. While Quinsam had provided the above-noted financing to fund the
necessary costs to complete the establishment of Herbiculture’s dispensary business, its industry involvement in Herbiculture is considered indirect. While Quinsam has a non-controlling investment in
Herbiculture through the right to a 35% equity interest, Quinsam has not exercised this right in question, and does not expect to trigger it in the future. Besides the financing, Quinsam had not provided any goods
or services to Herbiculture.
10

OG DNA Genetics Inc. has entered into various licensing agreements with cannabis producers in ten distinct jurisdictions, including Canada, and U.S. states such as Nevada, Pennsylvania, and Michigan, to name
a few. For confidentiality reasons, some states cannot be named.
11
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By ownership percentage
Under 10% ownership
Over 10% ownership

Cost
$
18,453,600
4,085,840

Fair value
$
13,173,197
5,219,875

Cost
$
3,498,517
-

Fair value
$
2,741,076
-

Total

22,539,440

18,393,072

3,498,517

2,741,076

Equities
Warrants
Convertible debentures
Loans

All cannabis investments
Cost
Fair value
$
$
11,591,374
11,992,141
1,004,076
187,487
6,392,952
6,474,831
5,802,676
5,768,701

Investees involved in
U.S. cannabis activities
Cost
Fair value
$
$
1,774,925
1,312,679
509,914
85,625
2,924,521
3,035,652
1,112,676
1,078,701

Total

24,791,078

24,423,160

6,322,036

5,512,657

By ownership percentage
Under 10% ownership
Over 10% ownership

Cost
$
21,287,535
3,503,543

Fair value
$
19,753,097
4,670,063

Cost
$
6,322,036
-

Fair value
$
5,512,657
-

Total

24,791,078

24,423,160

6,322,036

5,512,657

December 31, 2020
By type

Overall Performance and Investments
As at December 31, 2021, the Company held cash and investments recorded at fair value totaling $30,108,664 (December 31,
2020 – $32,872,345). During the quarter ended December 31, 2021 (“Q4 2021”) and for Fiscal 2021, Quinsam had funded for
new investments of approximately $0.9 million and $14.0 million, respectively (2020 – $1.5 million and $3.3 million) back to the
investments portfolio. While the market had somewhat rebounded from the low point of March of 2020 due to COVID-19, the
Company had since then gradually reduced our position from existing cannabis investments and diversified into other sectors
within the portfolio. As current cannabis market conditions remain uncertain, Quinsam may choose to look at additional
investments outside the cannabis sector going forward.
In Q4 2021, the total fair value of the Company’s investments decreased by almost $3.7 million to $30,050,279, from a portfolio
value of $33,732,070 as at September 30, 2021. The decrease in the quarter is primarily attributed to an unrealized loss on
investments of approximately $4.1 million, as the Company adjusted downward the valuation of certain private investments,
primarily from the cannabis sector.
Investments portfolio
The Company’s investments portfolio consisted of the following as at December 31, 2021:
Investments by type
Equities
Warrants
Convertible debentures
Loans
Total investments

Cost
$
18,315,544
1,968,683
5,217,235
5,888,044
31,389,506

Level 1
$
10,413,175
237,250
794,576
11,445,001

Fair Value
Level 2
$
1,222,731
1,914,583
375,000
3,512,314

Level 3
$
6,638,339
356,546
2,563,188
5,534,891
15,092,964

Total fair value
$
17,051,514
1,816,527
5,272,347
5,909,891
30,050,279
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Cannabis-related
Non-cannabis

Cost
$
22,539,440
8,850,066

Level 1
$
5,126,727
6,318,274

Fair Value
Level 2
$
2,563,150
949,164

Level 3
$
10,703,195
4,389,769

Total fair value
$
18,393,072
11,657,207

Total

31,389,506

11,445,001

3,512,314

15,092,964

30,050,279

Investments by sector

In addition to the investments in the cannabis sector as described in the above section, the Company also held the following noncannabis related investments in its investments portfolio as at December 31, 2021:
Investees
Above Food Corp.
Agriforce Growing Systems Ltd. (formerly
Carnivate Growing Systems Ltd.)
Atikokan Resources Inc.
Aurania Resources Ltd.
BBTV Holdings Inc.
C15 Solutions (formerly Cannabis OneFive Inc.)
California Nanotechnologies Inc.
Canada Energy Partners Inc.
Cematrix Corporation
ChargerQuest Inc.
Current Water Technologies Inc.
Cypress Development Corp.
Deveron Corp. (formerly Deveron UAS Corps.)
Electro Metals and Mining Inc. (formerly Ancient
Strains Limited)
Forrest Innovations Ltd.
Georgian Bay Biomed Inc.
Givex Corporation
Giyani Metals Corp.
Green Impact Partners Inc.
INX Ltd.
LexaGene Holdings Inc.
Liquid Meta Capital Holdings Ltd.
Merrco Payments Inc.
Microbix Biosystems Inc.
MiMedia Inc.
Music Royalties Inc.
New Hope Medical Group of Companies Inc.
(formerly Peak Health Ontario Inc.)
Newlox Gold Ventures Corp.
Peninsula Capital Corp.
Pfane Incorporated
Pluribus Technologies Inc.
Rivalry Corp. (formerly PMML Corp.)
RooGold Inc.
Saturn Oil and Gas Inc.
Sernova Corp.
Strategic Minerals Europe Inc.
Tr3dent Limited
Umajin Limited
Virotek Biosciences Inc.
Vitalhub Corp.
WealthCraft Capital Inc.
Wildpack Beverage Inc.
XS Financial Inc.
Zodiac Gold Inc.

Investment
relationship

Investment type

Private
Publicly-listed

Company’s
ownership %

Shares and warrants
Shares and warrants

Cost
$
300,000
707,080

Fair value
$
126,546
784,310

Private
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Private
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Private
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Private

Shares and warrants
Shares and warrants
Convertible debentures
Shares
Shares
Shares and warrants
Shares and warrants
Shares and warrants
Warrants
Warrants
Shares
Shares & warrants

50,000
90,000
500,000
220,000
150,120
100,000
260,000
200,000
77,072
47,842
50,000
550,000

47,691
73,500
415,000
525,000
94,520
59,214
132,491
107,304
133,607
146,219
390,000
959,992

Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

Private
Private
Private
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Private
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Private
Publicly-listed
Private
Private
Private

Convertible debentures
Shares
Shares
Shares and warrants
Shares
Shares
Warrants
Shares
Shares
Warrants
Shares
Shares
Shares

350,000
263,808
190,000
340,000
400,000
125,000
93,525
99,900
150,000
23,595
250,000
400,000
180,000

350,000
150,000
190,000
176,098
240,000
125,000
4,236
275,543
33,992
37,025
250,000
400,000
-

Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

Publicly-listed
Private
Private
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Private
Private
Private
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Private

Shares
Shares
Shares
Shares and warrants
Shares
Shares & warrants
Shares and warrants
Warrants
Shares and warrants
Conv. deb & warrants
Shares
Shares
Shares
Shares
Warrants
Warrants
Shares and warrants

397,393
324,000
250,000
400,412
100,000
200,000
291,957
40,319
350,000
100,000
50,020
150,000
42,000
13,346
56,701
48,933
130,851

1,062,859
480,000
250,000
547,134
715,555
288,699
550,750
78,706
705,257
151,779
50,020
63,300
277,200
15,213
28,014
36,287
129,146

Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%

9,113,874

11,657,207

Under 10%
Under 10%
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The Company’s investments portfolio consisted of the following as at December 31, 2020:
Cost
$
14,566,206
1,463,671
6,919,232
5,802,676
28,751,785

Level 1
$
6,608,858
584
6,609,442

Fair Value
Level 2
$
1,066,339
4,058,635
5,124,974

Level 3
$
10,786,074
573,183
2,894,324
5,768,701
20,022,282

Total fair value
$
17,394,932
1,640,106
6,952,959
5,768,701
31,756,698

Cannabis-related
Non-cannabis

Cost
$
24,791,078
3,960,707

Level 1
$
3,496,611
3,112,831

Fair Value
Level 2
$
3,641,651
1,483,323

Level 3
$
17,284,898
2,737,384

Total fair value
$
24,423,160
7,333,538

Total

28,751,785

6,609,442

5,124,974

20,022,282

31,756,698

Investments by type
Equities
Warrants
Convertible debentures
Loans
Total

Investments by sector

In addition to the investments in the cannabis sector as described in the above section, the Company also held the following noncannabis related investments in its investments portfolio as at December 31, 2020:
Investees
Agriforce Growing Systems Ltd. (formerly
Carnivate Growing Systems Ltd.)
C15 Solutions (formerly Cannabis OneFive Inc.)
California Nanotechnologies Inc.
Commercial Royalty Corp
Deveron Corp. (formerly Deveron UAS Corps.)
Helix TCS Inc.
Intelgenx Technologies Corp.
LexaGene Holdings Inc.
Merrco Payments Inc.
Newlox Gold Ventures Corp.
Peak Health Ontario Inc.
Pioneering Technology Corp.
Platinex Inc.
PMML Corp.
Solarvest BioEnergy Inc.
Skylight Health Group Inc.
Therma Bright Inc.
Tuscany Energy Limited
Umajin Limited
Vitalhub Corp.
Water Ways Technologies Inc.
WealthCraft Capital Inc.
XS Financial Inc.

Investment
relationship

Investment type

Private
Private
Publicly-listed
Private
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Public-listed
Private
Publicly-listed
Private
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Private
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Private
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed
Publicly-listed

Shares and warrants

Cost
$
860,500

Fair value
$
1,166,909

Shares
Shares
Shares
Shares
Shares and debentures
Warrants
Warrants
Shares
Shares & warrants
Shares
Warrants
Warrants
Shares & warrants
Shares
Shares and warrants
Options
Shares
Shares
Shares
Shares & warrants
Shares
Shares

220,000
150,120
50,000
50,000
626,217
62,157
93,525
150,000
137,993
180,000
25,961
9,688
50,000
28,175
194,333
68,331
40,000
50,020
42,000
350,000
13,346
508,341

490,000
111,200
210,000
573,296
1,755
123,153
33,992
1,181,757
180,000
13,639
816,463
21,413
1,666,680
75,015
50,020
239,400
105,022
103,766
170,058

3,960,707

7,333,538

Company’s
ownership %
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
Under 10%
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Financial Results
The Company’s selected financial results for the eight most recently completed quarters are as follows:

Investment revenue (loss)
Interest, advisory services and other income
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per share – basic
Working capital
Net Asset Value per share (NAV)
Shares outstanding

Q4 2021
$
(3,855,201)
455,976
(4,565,994)
(0.05)
30,752,829
0.30
100,043,106

Q3 2021
$
(1,472,117)
409,311
(721,550)
(0.01)
35,562,285
0.34
100,882,606

Q2 2021
$
(801,485)
383,111
(777,454)
(0.01)
36,861,546
0.34
103,492,106

Q1 2021
$
3,796,830
780,557
3,581,306
0.03
37,668,923
0.35
104,992,106

Investment revenue (loss)
Interest, advisory services and other income
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per share – basic
Working capital
Net Asset Value per share (NAV)
Shares outstanding

Q4 2020
$
1,130,271
641,559
1,760,824
0.02
34,174,191
0.32
104,992,106

Q3 2020
$
460,872
643,444
895,327
0.01
32,734,629
0.30
106,689,058

Q2 2020
$
2,187,860
501,705
2,373,855
0.02
32,179,099
0.29
108,939,058

Q1 2020
$
(3,396,023)
926,482
(2,589,999)
(0.02)
30,139,934
0.26
111,172,693

Three Months ended December 31, 2021
Results of operations
During Q4 2021, the Company had a total net investment loss of $3,855,201, as compared to a total net investment revenue of
$1,130,271 in the comparative period in 2020. The net investment loss in Q4 2021 is partly due to fluctuations in the capital
markets and partly due to provisions related to private investments being written down due to the negative cannabis performance.
Due to the negative market performance in the cannabis sector, the Company assessed that it was reasonable to adjust the fair
values of certain private company investments where there have been no recent transactions to provide definitive indications of
value. As a result, the Company recorded an unrealized loss of $4,084,734 during the quarter (2020 – unrealized gain of
$2,277,201). During Q4 2021, the Company also recorded a realized gain of $229,533 (2020 – realized loss of $1,146,930), due to
disposals of certain investments in the portfolio, which was partially offset by loss resulting from expiry of certain warrants.
During Q4 2021, other income totaled $455,976 (2020 – $641,559). Other income comprised of dividend income, interest income
from loans and convertible debentures, advisory services and other income associated with the Company’s investments.
Total operating expenses incurred during Q4 2021 was $886,406 (2020 – $130,107), for an increase of $756,299. The increase in
operating expenses for the current quarter was primarily driven by an allowance of expected credit loss (“ECL”) of $626,219
(2020 – reversal of ECL of $67,139) recorded on certain receivables balance, and an allowance of ECL $275,000 (2020 – $nil) on
certain loans investments. In 2021, the Company held certain debt investments of investee companies which had matured.
Management had assessed that since there was a low probability of collection, it proceeded to write off the overdue debts amount.
In addition, the Company also recorded higher professional fees for the quarter, at $84,009 (2020 –$65,236). The Company also
recorded lower stock-based compensation of $16,724 (2020 – $82,610) whereas the majority of options previously granted had
now vested. Otherwise, other operating expenses were fairly in line with expectations with the exception of salaries, bonus and
other employment benefits, which decreased by $114,677, from $14,163 in 2020 to a recovery amount of $100,514. The recovery
amount recorded in Q4 2021 is due to the reversal of accrued management fees due to the negative performance from the
investments portfolio.
During Q4 2021, the Company recorded an income tax expense of $280,363 (2020 – income tax recovery of $119,102), based on
the estimated income tax payable at period-end.
As a result of the above, net loss and comprehensive loss for Q4 2021 was $4,565,994 (net loss of $0.05 per share on a basic and
diluted basis, respectively), as compared to a net income and comprehensive income of $1,760,825 (net income of $0.02 per share
on a basic and diluted basis, respectively) for the comparative period in 2020.
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Cash flows
Net cash flows provided by operating activities for Q4 2021 was $38,572, as compared to net cash flows provided by operations
of $849,484 in the comparative period in 2020. During the current quarter, the Company remained active in terms of portfolio
activities as new investments of $943,525 were subscribed for in the portfolio (2020 – $1,494,350), while other investments were
disposed of during the quarter for total proceeds of $976,201 (2020 – $2,995,319), which had been deployed for new investments.
During Q4 2021, the Company had also drawn down on a margin facility of $86,284 (2020 – $nil) from one of its brokerage
accounts, which was replenished and paid back shortly after the year-end.
Net cash used in financing activities for Q4 2021 was $260,186, which comprised the quarterly dividend of $126,104 paid to
shareholders in November 2021 (2020 – $133,361). The Company also repurchased 839,500 common shares under the Bid for
$134,082 (2020 – $270,512). Otherwise, the Company did not undertake any other financing activities.
During Q4 2021, the Company did not participate in any investing activities (2020 – $nil).
Year ended December 31, 2021
Results of operations
During the year ended December 31, 2021 (“Fiscal 2021”), the Company had a total net investment loss of $2,331,973, as
compared to a total net investment income of $382,980 in the prior year. The net investment loss in Fiscal 2021 is partly due to
fluctuations in the capital markets and partly due to provisions related to private investments being written down due to the
negative cannabis performance. Due to the negative market performance in the cannabis sector, the Company assessed that it
was reasonable to adjust the fair values of certain private company investments where there have been no recent transactions to
provide definitive indications of value. In total, the Company recorded an unrealized loss of $4,206,238 in Fiscal 2021 (2020 –
unrealized gain of $3,316,714). Despite the uncertain market conditions, the Company disposed numerous of its investments for
a profit, and recorded a realized gain on disposals of $1,874,265 during the year (2020 – realized loss of $2,933,734).
During Fiscal 2021, other income totaled $2,028,955 (2020 – $2,713,190). Other income comprised of dividend income, interest
income from loans and convertible debentures, advisory services and other income associated with the Company’s investments.
While the Company continued to earn and accrue interest on its loans and convertible debentures investments, the comparable
decrease is primarily related to conversion of certain debentures in shares, which resulted in a lower amount of interest income
recognized.
Total operating expenses incurred in Fiscal 2021 was $1,713,301 (2020 – $855,765), for an increase of $857,536. The increase was
largely caused by an allowance of ECL of $626,219 (2020 – reversal of ECL of $151,556) recorded on certain receivables balance,
and an allowance of ECL $275,000 (2020 – $nil) on certain loans investments. In 2021, the Company held certain debt investments
of investee companies which had matured. Management had assessed that since there was a low probability of collection, it
proceeded to write off the overdue debts amount. Otherwise, other than for an increase of professional fees of $36,436, to
$315,023 (2020 – $278,587), all other operating expenses for the year had decreased relatively compared to the prior year. It
should be noted that salaries, bonus and other employment benefits decreased by $155,884, from $370,057 in 2020 to $214,173.
The decrease is due to the reversal of accrued management fees in 2021 due to the negative performance from the investments
portfolio seen in Fiscal 2021.
During Fiscal 2021, the Company recorded an income tax expense of $467,373 (2020 – income tax recovery of $199,602), based
on the estimated income tax payable at year-end.
As a result of the above, net loss and comprehensive loss for Fiscal 2021 was $2,483,692 (net loss of $0.02 per share on a basic
and diluted basis, respectively), as compared to a net income and comprehensive income of $2,440,007 (net income of $0.02 per
share on a basic and diluted basis, respectively) in 2020.
Cash flows
Net cash flows provided by operating activities for Fiscal 2021 was $347,544, as compared to net cash flows provided by
operations of $1,812,850 in 2020. In Fiscal 2021, the Company was very active as compared to the prior year, as new investments
of $14,004,361 were subscribed for in the investments portfolio (2020 – $3,313,681). The Company also disposed of substantial
investments during the year for total proceeds of $13,831,214 (2020 – $6,725,204), which had been deployed for new investments
and working capital use. During Fiscal 2021, the Company had also drawn down on a margin facility of $86,284 (2020 – repayment
of $699,974) from one of its brokerage accounts, which was replenished and paid back shortly after the year-end.
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Net cash used in financing activities for Fiscal 2021 was $1,404,806 (2020 – $1,371,469), which comprised payments for dividend
totalling $517,950 (2020 – $547,467). The Company also repurchased more than 4.9 million common shares under the Bid for
$886,856 (2020 – $824,002). Otherwise, the Company did not undertake any other financing activities.
During Fiscal 2021, the Company did not participate in any investing activities (2020 – $nil).
Liquidity and Capital Resources

Total assets
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Retained earnings
Net Asset Value per share – basic
Net Asset Value per share – diluted

December 31,
2021
$
31,930,253
1,177,424
30,752,829
10,219,432
0.30
0.29

December 31
2020
$
34,833,643
659,452
34,174,191
11,304,190
0.32
0.33

December 31,
2019
$
34,467,139
1,708,566
32,758,573
4,000,881
0.29
0.30

The Company relies upon various sources of funding for its ongoing operating and investing activities. These sources include
proceeds from disposals of investments, interest and dividend income earned from investments, consulting fees, and capital
raising activities such as debt and equity private placement financings.
During Fiscal 2021, the Company had paid total dividends of $517,950 (2020 – $547,467) to its shareholders. As disclosed in the
Company’s financial statements, when the Company raises funds from financings, it classifies this inflow as a “financing activity”,
whereas when these funds raised from financings are deployed, this outflow of net investments is classified as an operating cash
flow. Therefore, in periods where new funds are raised and deployed in any material extent, the Company’s financial statements
would show negative operating cash flows, and vice versa.
During Fiscal 2021, the Company disposed of certain of its investments for total proceeds of dispositions of $13,831,214 (2020
– $6,725,204) and was able to continue deploying funds for new investments into its investments portfolio, for a net purchase of
$173,147 (2020 – net disposals of $3,411,523) into the investments portfolio.
The raising and deployment of funds are inextricably linked from a management point of view, as the Company will only deploy
the funds after they have been raised. Therefore, the sustainability of dividend payments to shareholders is tied to the Company’s
ability over time to deploy funds to earn a quarterly return that is in excess of the quarterly dividend payment. In order to fund
dividend payments, the Company has the direcretion to use available cash or to dispose of some of its publicly-listed investees
for liquidity. The Company anticipates that future dividends will be sustainable and it will revaluate the payment of dividends to
shareholders, as required.
The Company’s present liabilities are limited to trade payables incurred in the normal course of business. Management believes
that the Company will be able to generate sufficient cash to fund its normal course of operations through the course of purchases
and disposals of existing investments.
Related Party Transactions
Key management personnel compensation
Key management includes the Company’s directors, officers and any employees with authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of an entity, directly or indirectly. The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management personnel during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Salaries, bonus and other benefits
Professional fees
Stock-based compensation

2021
$
209,373
108,480
312,334

2020
$
370,057
114,130
326,346

630,187

810,533
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During the year ended December 31, 2021, officers and directors of the Company were paid compensation benefits of $209,373
for services rendered (2020 – $370,057 including a provision for management bonus of $150,000, based on 5% of net investment
income on a quarterly basis), which was charged to salaries, bonus and other benefits. As at December 31, 2021, no management
bonus was included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (December 31, 2020 – $150,000).
During the year ended December 31, 2021, Branson Corporate Services Ltd. (“Branson”), where Keith Li, the Chief Financial
Officer (“CFO”) of the Company is employed, was paid professional fees of $108,480 (2020 – $108,480), for CFO services
provided to the Company, as well as other accounting and administrative services, which are included in professional fees. As at
December 31, 2021, no balance was owed to Branson (December 31, 2020 – $nil).
During the year ended December 31, 2020, a former officer and director of the Company was paid $5,650 for consulting services
provided to the Company, which are included in professional fees.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, Roger Dent, the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”), and Eric Szustak, the Chairman
of the Company, were issued 84,330.97 and 3,835.11 DSUs (2020 – 112,431.62 and 5,917.45 DSUs), respectively, upon
distribution of the cash dividends paid, as adjustments in accordance with the terms of the DSU Plan. These DSUs were valued
at $15,414 (2020 – $12,965) and recorded as stock-based compensation.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the CEO of the Company also received 774,000 DSUs as payment of the management
bonus related to the Company’s portfolio performance, that was accrued for the year ended December 31, 2020.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, officers and directors of the Company received stock-based compensation of $296,921
(2020 – $313,381) on vesting of options granted.
Investments in companies with common management personnel
As at December 31, 2021, the Company held investment positions in the following issuers with common officers and directors:
Investments
California Nanotechnologies Inc. (1)
Deveron Corp. (1)
Pharmadrug Inc. (2)
Vitalhub Corp. (1)

Common shares
Common shares
Warrants
Common shares

Holdings
#
1,112,000 shares
500,000 shares
375,000 units
84,000 shares

Fair Value
$
94,520
390,000
8,910
277,200
770,630

(1) Roger Dent is also a Director of California Nanotechnologies Inc., Deveron Corp. and Vitalhub Corp.
(2) Keith Li is also the CFO of Pharmadrug Inc.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As at December 31, 2021 and the date of this MD&A, the Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have
or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on the results of operations or financial condition of the Company.
Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of cash, receivables, investments, margin facility and accounts payable and
accrued liabilities. The Company is exposed to various risks as it relates to these financial instruments. Management, in conjunction
with the Board, mitigates these risks by assessing, monitoring and approving the Company’s risk management process. There
have not been any changes in the nature of these risks or the process of managing these risks from the previous reporting periods.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The Company’s credit risk
is primarily attributable to cash, and receivables (including loans), which expose the Company to credit risk should the borrower
default on maturity of the instruments. Cash is currently held with a reputable Canadian financial institution which is available on
demand. Management believes that the credit risk concentration with respect to financial instruments included in cash is minimal.
The Company’s second exposure to credit risk is on receivables. At each reporting period, management assesses the credit risk of
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its receivables. Where collection risk may exist, the Company may record an allowance of ECL. During the year ended December
31, 2021, the Company recorded an allowance of ECL of $626,219 (2020 – reversal of ECL of $151,556) on the receivables.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial obligations as they come
due. The Company manages its liquidity risk by reviewing its capital requirements on an ongoing basis. The Company’s liquidity
and operating results may be adversely affected if the Company’s access to the capital market is hindered, whether as a result of
a downturn in stock market conditions generally or related to matters specific to the Company. The Company generates cash flow
primarily from its financing activities. As at December 31, 2021, the Company had a cash balance of $58,385 (December 31, 2020
– $1,115,647), and Level 1 investments in shares of $10,413,175 (December 31, 2020 – $6,608,858) which it can liquidate, to settle
current liabilities of $1,177,424 (December 31, 2020 – $659,452).
The following table summarizes the carrying amount and the contractual maturities of both the interest and principal portion of
significant financial liabilities as at December 31, 2021:

Margin facility
Accounts payable

Carrying
amount
$
86,284
109,125

Year 1
$
86,284
109,125

Year 2 to 3
$

Year 4 to 5
$

-

-

The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual
cash flows for a rolling period of 12 months to identify financial requirements. Where insufficient liquidity may exist, the Company
may dispose of certain of its investments for cash or pursue various debt and equity instruments for short or long-term financing
of its operations.
Management believes there is sufficient capital to meet short-term business obligations, after taking into account cash flow
requirements from operations and the Company’s cash and shares investments position as at December 31, 2021.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the Company will be subject to foreign currency fluctuations in satisfying obligations related
to its foreign activities. The Company invests from time to time into securities, debentures and loan investments issued and
denominated in foreign currencies, notably in U.S. dollars. The Company’s primary exposure to foreign exchange risk is that
investments in foreign securities may expose the Company to the risk of exchange rate fluctuations. Due to the low number of
investments issued and denominated in foreign currencies, management believes that the foreign exchange risk with respect to
investments is low.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rate. The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its ability to earn interest income on cash at variable
rates. The fair value of the Company’s cash, and convertible debentures and loan investments affected by changes in short-term
interest rates will be minimal. The Company does not use any derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to interest rate risk.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s financial instruments will significantly
fluctuate due to changes in market prices. The value of the financial instruments can be affected by changes in interest rates,
foreign exchange rates, and equity and commodity prices. The Company is exposed to market risk in trading its investments and
unfavorable market conditions could result in dispositions of investments at less than favorable prices. A 1% change in closing
trade price of the Company’s investments portfolio would impact net loss by approximately $301,000 based upon balances as at
December 31, 2021.
Concentration risk
Concentration risk is the potential for a loss in value of the Company’s investments portfolio when an individual or group of
exposures move together in an unfavorable direction. The Company is exposed to concentration risk as its investments portfolio
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is focused on a few small cap sectors, notably investee companies from the cannabis markets. The potential lack of diversification
and a downturn in a particular industry could result in decreases in the fair value of the investments portfolio. As at December
31, 2021, cannabis-related investments accounted for approximately 61% of the Company’s investment portion (December 31,
2020 – 77%).
The Company manages concentration risk by regularly reviewing threshold of industry holdings and rebalancing its portfolio
when needed. The Company also incorporate diversification across investments from different industry.
COVID-19
In December 2019, COVID-19 surfaced in Wuhan, China. The WHO declared a global emergency on January 30, 2020 with
respect to the outbreak then characterized it as a pandemic on March 11, 2020. The outbreak has spread globally, and there have
been surges in cases of COVID-19 in Canada and the U.S. and has continued to cause companies and various international
jurisdictions to impose restrictions, such as quarantines, closures, cancellations and travel restrictions. The duration of the business
disruptions internationally and related financial impact to the global economy remains highly uncertain at this time, as COVID19 continues to evolve.
To date, the outbreak has not had a material adverse impact on the Company’s operations. As mentioned in the section titled
“Impact of COVID-19”, Quinsam has operated on a “virtual basis” for a number of years, restrictions and the general closure of
non-essential businesses in response to the COVID-19 outbreak has not significantly impacted the Company’s day-to-day
operations.
However, the future impact of the outbreak remains potentially and highly uncertain for certain of Quinsam’s investee companies,
and may not be predicted. Until economies stabilize and that such investee companies can demonstrate profitable and sustained
level of operations, there is no assurance that the outbreak will not have a material adverse impact on the future results of the
Company. The extent of the impact, if any, will depend on future developments, including actions taken to contain COVID-19.
Other risks
The Company may from time to time be subject to risks which are beyond its control, such as the 2021–2022 Russo-Ukrainian
crisis which have spurred a rally in precious metal prices including gold and silver, of which both are minerals that certain investee
companies in the Company’s investments portfolio are exploring for. The Company manages such risks by regularly rebalancing
its portfolio when needed. The Company also assesses potential regulatory and geo-political risks of the business location of
potential investee companies in its selection process.
Capital Management
The Company manages its capital, consisting of shareholders’ equity, in a manner consistent with the risk characteristics of the
assets it holds. The Company’s objectives when managing capital are:
(a) to maintain sufficient liquidity to allow the Company to pursue business opportunities expeditiously; &
(b) to earn investment returns while managing risk.
The Company is meeting its objective of managing capital through its detailed review and performance of due diligence on all
potential investments and acquisitions. Management reviews its capital management approach on an on-going basis and believes
that this approach, given the small size of the Company, is reasonable. There were no changes in its approach to capital
management during the years ended December 31, 2021.
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses.
These are described in greater detail in Note 2(e) to the Company’s 2021 Financial Statements.
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Significant Accounting Policies
The significant accounting policies used by the Company are described in greater detail in Note 3 to the Company’s 2021 Financial
Statements.
Outstanding Share Data
As at May 2, 2022, the number of common shares of the Company outstanding and the number of common shares issuable
pursuant to other outstanding securities of Quinsam are as follows:
Securities
Voting or equity securities issued and
outstanding

Outstanding
100,307,230 common shares outstanding

Securities convertible or exercisable into
voting or equity

3,565,627 DSUs outstanding; and
4,740,000 options outstanding.

Subsequent Events
On January 28, 2022, the Board approved a quarterly dividend of $0.00125 per share. The dividend distribution was paid on
February 25, 2022, to shareholders of record on February 4, 2022. On distribution of the cash dividends, the Company granted
36,758.85 DSUs at a price of $0.12 to certain of its officers.
On February 16, 2022, the Company settled the $150,000 accrued consulting fees from an investee company, through receipt of
2,500,000 shares of the Investee at a price of $0.06 per share.
Segmented Information
Quinsam’s management is responsible for the Company’s entire investments portfolio and considers the business to have a single
operating segment. The management’s investment decisions are based on a single, integrated investment strategy, and the
performance is evaluated on an overall basis.
Quinsam has a single reportable geographic segment, Canada, and all of the Company’s management are based in Canada.
The internal reporting provided to management of the Company’s assets, liabilities, and performance is prepared on a consistent
basis with the measurement and recognition principles of IFRS. There were no changes in the reportable segments during the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
Regulatory Overview
U.S. federal law
While cannabis (“marijuana”) and cannabis-infused products are legal under the laws of several U.S. states (with vastly differing
restrictions), presently the concept of “medical”, “retail” or “adult-use” cannabis does not exist under U.S. federal law. The U.S.
Federal Controlled Substances Act (“FCSA”) classifies cannabis as a Schedule I drug. Under U.S. federal law, a Schedule I drug
or substance has a high potential for abuse, no accepted medical use in the U.S., and a lack of safety for the use of the drug under
medical supervision.
The U.S. Supreme Court has ruled in a number of cases that the federal government does not violate the federal constitution by
regulating and criminalizing cannabis, even for medical purposes. Therefore, federal law criminalizing the use of cannabis preempts state laws that legalizes its use for medicinal and adult-use purposes.
The U.S. Department of Justice (the “DOJ”) has issued official guidance regarding cannabis enforcement in 2009, 2011, 2013,
2014 and 2018 in response to state laws that legalize medical and adult-use cannabis. In each instance, the DOJ has stated that it
is committed to the enforcement of federal laws and regulations related to cannabis. However, the DOJ also recognized that its
investigative and prosecutorial resources are limited. As of January 4, 2018, the DOJ has rescinded all federal enforcement
guidance specific to cannabis (including the Cole memo, discussed below) and has instead directed federal prosecutors to follow
the “Principles of Federal Prosecution” originally set forth in 1980 and subsequently refined over time in chapter 9-27.000 of the
U.S. Attorney’s Manual. This direction has created broader discretion for federal prosecutors to potentially prosecute state-legal
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medical and adult-use cannabis businesses, even if they are not engaged in cannabis-related conduct enumerated by the Cole
Memo.
Prior to 2018 and in the Cole Memo (issued on August 29, 2013), the DOJ acknowledged that certain U.S. states had enacted
laws relating to the use of cannabis and outlined the U.S. federal government’s enforcement priorities with respect to cannabis
notwithstanding the fact that certain states have legalized or decriminalized the use, sale, and manufacture of cannabis. The Cole
Memo was addressed to “All United States Attorneys” from James M. Cole, Deputy Attorney General of the U.S., indicating that
federal enforcement of the applicable federal laws against cannabis-related conduct should be focused on eight priorities, which
are to prevent:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)
(viii)

Distribution of cannabis to minors.
Criminal enterprises, gangs, and cartels from receiving revenue from the sale of cannabis.
Transfer of cannabis from states where it is legal to states where it is illegal.
Cannabis activity from being a pretext for trafficking of other illegal drugs or illegal activity.
Violence or use of firearms in cannabis cultivation and distribution.
Drugged driving and adverse public health consequences from cannabis use.
Growth of cannabis on federal lands; and
Cannabis possession or use on federal property.

In particular, the Cole Memo noted that in jurisdictions that have enacted laws legalizing cannabis in some form and that have
also implemented strong and effective regulatory and enforcement systems to control the cultivation, distribution, sale and
possession of cannabis, conduct in compliance with those laws and regulations is less likely to be a priority at the federal level.
Notably, however, the DOJ did not provide specific guidelines for what regulatory and enforcement systems it deemed sufficient
under the Cole Memo standard.
On January 4, 2018, the Cole Memo was rescinded by a one-page memo signed by Jeff Sessions, then the U.S. Attorney General
(the “Sessions Memo”). The result of the rescission of the Cole Memo is that federal prosecutors will now be free to utilize their
prosecutorial discretion to decide whether to prosecute cannabis activities despite the existence of state-level laws that may be
inconsistent with federal prohibitions; however, discretion is still given to the federal prosecutor to weigh all relevant
considerations of the crime, including the deterrent effect of criminal prosecution, and the cumulative impact of particular crimes
on the community. No direction was given to federal prosecutors as to the priority they should ascribe to such activities, and
resultantly it is uncertain how active federal prosecutors will be in relation to such activities.
Furthermore, the Sessions Memo did not discuss the treatment of medical cannabis by federal prosecutors. Medical cannabis was
protected against enforcement by enacted legislation from U.S. Congress in the form of the Rohrabacher-Blumenauer
Amendment (as defined herein) which similarly prevents federal prosecutors from using federal funds to impede the
implementation of medical cannabis laws enacted at the state level, subject to Congress restoring such funding (see “U.S.
Enforcement Proceedings”). Due to the ambiguity of the Sessions Memo in relation to medical cannabis, there can be no
assurance that the federal government will not seek to prosecute cases involving cannabis businesses that are otherwise compliant
with state law (see “Risk Factors”).
On March 22, 2018, the House of Representatives (the “House”) and Senate voted in favor of approving the Omnibus Spending
Bill (the “Omnibus Spending Bill”) and it was signed into law the following day by former U.S. President Donald Trump. With
the Omnibus Spending Bill’s approval came an extension of Rohrabacher-Leahy Amendment until September 2018, which is
represented by Section 538 of the Bill. The Rohrabacher-Leahy Amendment prevents the DOJ from using federal funds in
enforcing federal law relating to medical cannabis, which effectively allows states to implement their own laws that authorize the
use, distribution, possession, or cultivation of medical cannabis. The amendment was first introduced in 2014 and has been
reaffirmed annually since then. It should be noted that this amendment does not apply to adult-use cannabis.
On November 7, 2018, Mr. Sessions resigned. While pro-cannabis legislation would still require passage by the Senate and
enactment by the U.S. federal executive branch of government, the path to legalization seems to have opened up with Mr.
Sessions’ departure. With divided congressional power, opportunities arose for bipartisanship on a number of issues, including
the Strengthening the Tenth Amendment Through Entrusting States (STATES) Act, S. 3032 (“STATES Act”), which would
protect individuals working in cannabis sectors from federal prosecution. The STATES Act was introduced in June 2018 through
bipartisan efforts initiated by former Colorado U.S. Senator Cory Gardner together with Massachusetts U.S. Senator Elizabeth
Warren. In addition, constituents of the State of Michigan voted to legalize recreational cannabis, making Michigan the first state
in the Midwest U.S. to do so and the 10th in the U.S. overall, demonstrating growing sentiment among Americans towards
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legalization. Voters in the states of Missouri and Utah also approved ballot measures legalizing cannabis for medical use, making
their states the 31st and 32nd to do so.
On July 10, 2019, the House Judiciary Subcommittee on Crime, Terrorism and Homeland Security gathered to debate cannabis
reform, as lawmakers sought input on federal laws reform in a hearing titled “Marijuana Laws in America: Racial Justice and the Need
for Reform.” Numerous members of Congress had indicated their intention to loosen U.S. federal laws, and to even legalize
cannabis. Despite the optimism, no consensus was reached by lawmakers.
On September 25, 2019, the House voted in favor of the Secure and Fair Enforcement (SAFE) Act (“SAFE Banking Act”). The
historic vote was the first time that a standalone cannabis bill has come before the House. The vote needed a two-thirds majority
to pass and was supported by 321 votes in favor to 103 against.
On November 21, 2019, the House Judiciary Committee voted 24 to 10 in favor of passing the Marijuana Opportunity
Reinvestment and Expungement (MORE) Act (“MORE Act”) of 2019. The bill effectively put an end to cannabis prohibition in
the U.S. on the federal level by removing it from Schedule 1 of the FCSA, and past federal cannabis convictions would be
expunged. The law allows the Small Business Administration to issue loans and grants to cannabis-related businesses and provide
a green light for physicians in the Veterans Affairs system to prescribe medical cannabis to patients, as long as they abide by statespecific laws.
On May 15, 2020, provisions of the SAFE Banking Act have been incorporated into the stimulus package passed by the House.
The Health and Economic Recovery Omnibus Emergency Solutions (HEROES) Act is a $3 trillion stimulus bill passed in
response to the economic and health crisis caused by COVID-19.
On November 3, 2020, the U.S. held its 2020 presidential election, and adult-use cannabis legalization was approved via ballot
measures in four additional states: Arizona, Montana, South Dakota and New Jersey. Additionally, medical cannabis was legalized
via ballot measures in Mississippi and South Dakota, which became the first state to legalize medical and recreational cannabis
simultaneously. In total, 15 states and Washington, DC have legalized cannabis for adult-use over the age of 21, while 36 states
have legalized cannabis for medical use.
On November 4, 2020, the House passed the MORE Act, the first time that either Congressional house voted to de-schedule
cannabis from the FCSA and thus decriminalize manufacturing, distribution, and possession. However, the Senate did not act
before the end of the 2020 session.
On January 20, 2021, Joseph R. Biden was sworn in as the 46th President of the U.S, having announced a goal during his campaign
to decriminalize cannabis possession federally; Democrats maintained their House majority and achieved control of the Senate.
On March 10, 2021, House Democrats voted 220 to 211 in favor of passing the American Rescue Plan (ARP) Act, a $1.9 trillion
coronavirus relief package, which is among the largest economic stimulus packages in U.S. history. The ARP Act was signed by
President Biden on March 11, 2021. While cannabis companies will likely see increased sales resulting from this third round of
federal stimulus payments in the U.S., some industry experts have claimed that cannabis companies may be ineligible for certain
small business credit initiatives outlined in the relief package.
In March 2021, New York became the 16th state to legalize adult-use cannabis, both doing so through legislative action. In the
same month, Senate Majority Leader Chuck Schumer of New York, and Senators Ron Wyden of Oregon, and Cory Booker of
New Jersey met with cannabis industry advocates including the National Cannabis Industry Association and the Minority
Cannabis Business Association to announce their intention to introduce legislation in the U.S. Senate that would legalize, tax and
regulate commercial cannabis activity at the federal level. While President Biden has supported decriminalization of possession
and has not expressed support for de-scheduling cannabis, Vice President Harris was one of the original sponsors of the MORE
Act while she was still serving in the U.S. Senate, and has publicly stated her support for cannabis de-scheduling. Senate Majority
Leader Schumer has indicated the Senate leadership’s willingness to champion full cannabis legalization even without the support
of President Biden. However, the legislation has not yet been introduced, and its passage is not assured, notwithstanding
Democratic control of the federal executive and legislature. As such, such statements of support for de-scheduling do not
materially affect the likelihood of federal enforcement of current cannabis laws against the Company or any other state-licensed
cannabis enterprise.
On April 1, 2022, the House passed the MORE Act for a second time on April 1, 2022. Legislation was supported by 220 votes
in favor and 204 against. The bill will now pass to the Senate, where 60 votes are needed.
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On April 4, 2022, the House also passed The Medical Marijuana Research (MMR) Act, a bipartisan marijuana research bill that
establishes a new, separate registration process to facilitate medical marijuana research. Specifically, it directs the Drug
Enforcement Administration to register practitioners to conduct medical marijuana research, and manufacturers and distributors
to supply marijuana for such research. The Medical Marijuana Research Act was supported by 343 votes in favor and 75 against.
While current U.S. Attorney General Merrick Garland had previously commented that he would deprioritize enforcement of lowlevel cannabis crimes such as possession, and that federal reforms are closely tied to the larger issue of social justice for minorities,
Attorney General Garland had not since offered further clarity on how he will enforce federal law or how to deal with states that
have legalized medical or recreational cannabis. While bipartisan support has been gaining traction on decriminalization and
reform for a few years now, there is currently no imminent timeline on any potential legislation. There is no guarantee that the
Biden Presidential administration will not change its stated policy regarding the low-priority enforcement of U.S. federal laws that
conflict with state laws.
Any changes in the U.S. federal government’s enforcement of current U.S. federal law could cause adverse financial
impact and remain a significant risk to the Company and its Investees’ businesses, which could in turn have an impact
on the Company’s investments portfolio and financial results. See “Risk Factors”.
U.S. enforcement proceedings
The U.S. Congress has passed appropriations bills (at various times, the “Rohrabacher-Farr Amendment,” the “Leahy
Amendment” and the “Joyce Amendment,” hereinafter the “Budget Rider Protections”) each of the last several years to prevent
the federal executive branch (and specifically the DOJ) from using congressionally appropriated funds to enforce the FCSA
against regulated medical cannabis businesses operating in compliance with state and local laws, which effectively allows states to
implement their own laws that authorize the use, distribution, possession, or cultivation of medical cannabis. The Budget Rider
Protections were first introduced in 2014 and has been reaffirmed annually since then as an amendment to omnibus appropriations
bills, which by their nature expire at the end of a fiscal year or other defined term. The current Budget Rider Protections will
remain in effect, through the signing of the Fiscal 2022 Omnibus Spending Bill, through September 30, 2022. At such time, it
may or may not be included in the omnibus appropriations package or a continuing budget resolution, and its inclusion or noninclusion, as applicable, is subject to political changes. It should be noted that this amendment does not apply to adult-use
cannabis.
U.S. courts have construed these appropriations bills to prevent the federal government from prosecuting individuals when those
individuals comply with applicable state law. However, because this conduct continues to violate U.S. federal law, U.S. courts
have observed that should Congress at any time choose to appropriate funds to fully prosecute the FCSA, any individual or
business – even those that have fully complied with applicable state law – could be prosecuted for violations of U.S. federal law.
Therefore, until Congress amends the FCSA regarding cannabis, enforcement of U.S. federal law remains a significant risk. Any
increase in the U.S. federal government’s enforcement of current U.S. federal law could cause adverse financial impact and remain
a significant risk to the Investees’ business, which could in turn have an impact on the Company’s operations or financial results.
A change in its enforcement policies could indirectly impact the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern (see “Risk
Factors”).
State-level overview
Regulations differ significantly amongst U.S. states. Some states only permit the cultivation, processing and distribution of medical
cannabis and cannabis-infused products. Some others may also permit the cultivation, processing, and distribution of cannabis for
adult purposes and retail cannabis-infused products. The following sections present an overview of state-level regulatory
conditions for the cannabis industry in which the Investees have an operating presence:
California
In 1996, California was the first U.S. state to legalize medical cannabis through Proposition 215, the Compassionate Use Act of
1996. The City of Oakland was the first jurisdiction to license commercial cannabis activities in the U.S. This legalized the use,
possession and cultivation of medical cannabis by patients with a physician recommendation for treatment of cancer, anorexia,
AIDS, chronic pain, spasticity, glaucoma, arthritis, migraine, or any other illness for which cannabis provides relief. However,
there was no state licensing authority to oversee businesses that emerged.
In September of 2015, the California state legislature (the “Legislature”) passed three bills collectively known as the “Medical
Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act” (“MCRSA”). The MCRSA establishes a licensing and regulatory framework for medical
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cannabis businesses in California. The system has multiple license types for dispensaries, infused products manufacturers,
cultivation facilities, testing laboratories, transportation companies, and distributors. Edible-infused product manufacturers will
require either volatile solvent or non-volatile solvent manufacturing licenses depending on their specific extraction methodology.
Multiple agencies will oversee different aspects of the program and businesses will require a State license and local approval to
operate.
On November 8, 2016, California residents voted to approve the “Adult Use of Marijuana Act” (“AUMA”) to tax and regulate
for all adults 21 years of age and older.
On June 27, 2017, the Legislature passed Senate Bill 94, known as the “Medicinal and Adult-Use Cannabis Regulation and Safety
Act” (“MAUCRSA”), which amalgamates the MCRSA and AUMA frameworks to provide a set of regulations to govern medical
and adult-use licensing regime for cannabis businesses in California. On November 16, 2017, the state government introduced
the emergency regulations, which shall be governed by the California Bureau of Cannabis Control, the California Department of
Public Health and the California Department of Food and Agriculture, which provide further clarity on the regulatory framework
that will govern cannabis businesses. The regulations build on the regulations provided by MCRSA and AUMA, and also specify
that the businesses will need to comply with the local law in order to also comply with the state regulations. On January 1, 2018,
the new state regulations took effect as California moved to full adult-use state legalization for cannabis products.
To legally operate a medical or adult-use cannabis business in California, cannabis operators must obtain a state license and local
approval. Local authorization is a prerequisite to obtaining the state license, and local governments are permitted to prohibit or
otherwise regulate the types and number of cannabis businesses allowed in their locality. The state license approval process is not
competitive and there is no limit on the number of state licenses an entity may hold. Although vertical integration across multiple
license types is allowed under the MAUCRSA, testing laboratory licensees may not hold any other licenses aside from a laboratory
license. There are no residency requirements for ownership under the MAUCRSA.
On August 6, 2019, the California DOJ released the “Guidelines for the Security and Non-Diversion of Cannabis Grown for
Medicinal Use” to clarify the state’s laws governing medicinal cannabis, specifically those related to the enforcement,
transportation, and use of medicinal cannabis. The guidelines come after significant changes in state law on recreational cannabis
use. The revised guidelines include:
•
•
•
•
•

A summary of applicable laws.
Guidelines regarding individual qualified patients and primary caregivers.
Best practices for the recommendation of cannabis for medical purposes.
Enforcement guidelines for state and local law enforcement agencies; and
Guidance regarding collectives and cooperatives.

On October 12, 2019, California Governor Gavin Newsom signed several cannabis-related bills that, among other things, are
designed to bolster minority participation in the industry, ensure labor peace and institute a vaporizer cartridge labeling
requirement, and including one that will let legal businesses take advantage of more tax deductions. Gov. Newsom also signed
Assembly Bill 37, that allows cannabis business owners to deduct business expenses at the state level, something that remains
illegal federally.
To the knowledge of the Company’s management, there have not been any additional statements or guidance made by federal
authorities or prosecutors regarding the risk of enforcement action in the state of California.
Colorado
On November 6, 2012, Colorado Amendment 64 was passed to amend Colorado’s constitution, subsequently enacted as Article
18, section 16 of the Colorado constitution, addressing “personal use and regulation of cannabis” for adults 21 and over, as well
as commercial cultivation, manufacture, and sale, effectively regulating cannabis in a manner similar to alcohol. Pursuant to the
Retail Code adopted in April 2017, by the state of Colorado, licensed operators are subject to residency requirements. Medical
and retail cannabis programs in the state are regulated by the Marijuana Enforcement Division of the Department of Revenue.
Businesses must be licensed to operate a retail cannabis establishment including, retail cannabis stores; retail cannabis products
manufacturers; retail cannabis cultivation facilities; retail cannabis testing facilities; retail cannabis transporters; and retail cannabis
business operators. The state licensing authority must act on applications within 45 to 90 days after receipt. A license applicant
must undergo a criminal background check and a license can be denied based on certain previous criminal convictions. All officers,
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managers, and employees of a retail cannabis business must be residents of Colorado, and all owners must be residents of
Colorado for at least two years prior to applying for licensure.
As one of the first states to legalize recreational cannabis, Colorado has continued to advocate for the legalization of cannabis
delivery services. On May 29, 2019, Colorado Governor Jared Polis singed House Bill 1234, to legalize cannabis delivery services
in Colorado as long as local municipalities approve. The bill creates cannabis delivery permits for licensed medical cannabis centers
and transporters and licensed retail cannabis stores and transporters that allow the centers, stores, and transporters to deliver
medical cannabis, medical cannabis-infused products, retail cannabis, and retail cannabis products to customers. The bill gives the
state licensing authority rule-making authority over the permit and delivery system. Medical cannabis delivery permitting began
on January 2, 2020, and retail cannabis delivery permitting began on January 2, 2021. Gov. Polis pointed at the passing of
legislation by saying, “We just passed the enabling legislation around that, beginning with medical marijuana and then moving to
full regulated sale of marijuana so people exercise – in our state, it’s a constitutional right to use marijuana in their home – [that
right] without the risk of them using it somewhere else and driving. We’re really looking at a wide variety of tactics to decrease
that risk.” The first permit was issued in March 2020.
On September 23, 2019, Attorney General of Colorado, Philip Weiser, was among a bipartisan coalition of 21 state Attorneys
General, which urged Congress to pass the STATES Act of 2019 or similar measures that would allow legal cannabis-related
businesses to access the banking system. “We are a bipartisan group of state and territorial attorneys general who share a strong
interest in defending states’ rights, protecting public safety, improving our criminal justice systems, and regulating new industries
appropriately,” said Attorney General Weiser. “Legislation like the proposed STATES Act is simply meant to ensure that if a state
or territory does choose to legalize some form of marijuana use – which at least 33 states and several territories have done – its
residents are not subject to a confusing and dangerous regulatory limbo.”
In addition to House Bill 1234, a second law came into effect on January 1, 2020. House Bill 1230 allows two new types of
cannabis-related businesses in the state. Businesses can apply to be licensed as a tasting room that can sell cannabis products onsite. The law also allows for “marijuana hospitality establishments,” which allow the on-site consumption of cannabis, but the not
sale of it. Hospitality establishments can be mobile, such as a tour bus.
In July 2021, Gov. Polis established the Colorado Cannabis Business Office, whose mandate is to create new economic
development opportunities, local job creation and community growth in the cannabis vertical for the population of Colorado.
To the knowledge of the Company’s management, there have not been any additional statements or guidance made by federal
authorities or prosecutors regarding the risk of enforcement action in the state of Colorado.
Florida
In 2016, Florida voters passed a constitutional amendment known as the “Florida Medical Marijuana Legalization Initiative”
(“Amendment 2”). Amendment 2 came info effect on January 3, 2017, and legalized medical cannabis for individuals with specific
debilitating diseases or comparable debilitating conditions as determined by a licensed state physician. Amendment 2 protects
qualifying patients, caregivers, physicians, and medical cannabis dispensaries and their staff from criminal prosecutions or civil
sanctions under Florida laws. The state of Florida Statutes 381.986(8)(a) provides a regulatory framework that requires licensed
producers, which are statutorily defined as “‘Medical Marijuana Treatment Centers” (“MMTC”), to both cultivate, process and
dispense medical cannabis in a vertically integrated marketplace.
Applicants must demonstrate (and licensed MMTCs must maintain) that: (i) they have been registered to do business in the state
of Florida for the previous five years, (ii) they possess a valid certificate of registration issued by the Florida Department of
Agriculture (“FDOA”), (iii) they have the technical and technological ability to cultivate and produce cannabis, including, but not
limited to, low-THC cannabis, (iv) they have the ability to secure the premises, resources, and personnel necessary to operate as
an MMTC, (v) they have the ability to maintain accountability of all raw materials, finished products, and any byproducts to
prevent diversion or unlawful access to or possession of these substances, (vi) they have an infrastructure reasonably located to
dispense cannabis to registered qualified patients statewide or regionally as determined by the FDOA, (vii) they have the financial
ability to maintain operations for the duration of the 2-year approval cycle, including the provision of certified financial statements
to the department, (viii) all owners, officers, board members and managers have passed a Level II background screening, inclusive
of fingerprinting, and ensure that a medical director is employed to supervise the activities of the MMTC, and (ix) they have a
diversity plan and veterans plan accompanied by a contractual process for establishing business relationships with veterans and
minority contractors and/or employees. Upon approval of the application by the FDOA, the applicant must post a performance
bond of up to USD $5 million, which may be reduced by meeting certain criteria.
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While residents of Florida overwhelmingly voted in favor of a constitutional amendment to allow medical cannabis in 2016, then
Florida Governor Rick Scott signed a law in 2017 that banned cannabis smoking in all forms. The ban was overturned on March
18, 2019, when current Governor Ron DeSantis signed legislation to repeal it. Shortly after Gov. DeSantis took office in January
2018, he called on the Florida legislature to send a bill to his desk that would legalize medical cannabis. The enacted law allows
patients to receive 2.5 ounces of whole flower cannabis every 35 days. Patients younger than 18 can smoke medical cannabis if
they have a terminal condition and get a second opinion from a pediatrician.
Legalizing recreational cannabis in Florida was not on the ballot in the 2020 elections. Despite a brief but expensive campaign,
the Make it Legal Florida political committee did not make it on the 2020 ballot. The campaign, which raised over USD $8.7
million in primarily cannabis industry money since it launched in August 2019, has spent USD $7.7 million on the effort. On April
22, 2021, the Florida Supreme Court, in a 5-2 decision, ruled a constitutional ballot initiative by Make it Legal Florida to be
“misleading.” The ruling came after Attorney General of Florida, Ashley Moody, asked the justices to advise whether the potential
constitutional initiative would be suitable for a future ballot. If it wants to make a future ballot, Make It Legal Florida would now
have to redraft the amendment and start from scratch.
Despite having previously suggested that he is in favor of decriminalization, Gov. DeSantis had remained non-committal on the
issue. On January 28, 2022, Gov. DeSantis cited during a press conference in Tallahassee that the “putrid” scent of cannabis as a
reason he may remain opposed to fully legalizing its use in the state, “I think a lot of those other areas that have done it you know
have ended up regretting it,” “I could not believe the pungent odor that you would see in some of these places and I don't want
to see that here. I want people to be able to breathe freely.” Meanwhile, Democrat Agriculture Commissioner Nikki Fried who
is running to unseat Gov. DeSantis in 2022, has incorporated cannabis legalization into her platform.
Activists in Florida have recently turned their attention to putting adult-use legalization on the 2024 ballot, as a new campaign
was launched on February 2, 2022. Activists will now have two years to first gather 222,898 valid signatures to prompt a judicial
and fiscal impact review, and will then need a total of 891,589 signatures to make the ballot. The measure would allow adults 21
and older to use and possess cannabis. They could also grow up to nine plants for personal use. Should the reform measure make
the 2024 ballot, at least 60 percent of Florida voters would have to approve it for it to be enacted.
To the knowledge of the Company’s management, there have not been any additional statements or guidance made by federal
authorities or prosecutors regarding the risk of enforcement action in the state of Florida.
Nevada
In 2001, the use of medical cannabis was legalized in Nevada, and state-certified medical cannabis establishments, like dispensaries,
became operational in 2015. The Nevada Medical Marijuana Program is governed by Nevada Revised Statute (“NRS”) 453A and
Nevada Administrative Code 453A. Patients meeting certain criteria can apply for a Nevada medical marijuana card. The medical
cannabis card allows patients to legally purchase cannabis from a state-certified medical cannabis dispensary and a registry of
medical cannabis patient cardholders is administered by the Division of Public and Behavioral Health (“DPBH”).
The sale of cannabis for adult-use in Nevada was approved by ballot initiative on November 8, 2016 and NRS 453D exempts a
person who is 21 years of age or older from state or local prosecution for possession, use, consumption, purchase, transportation
or cultivation of certain amounts of cannabis and requires the Nevada Department of Taxation (“NDT”) to begin receiving
applications for the licensing of cannabis establishments on or before January 1, 2018. As of July 1, 2017, NDT is responsible for
licensing and regulating and retail cannabis businesses in Nevada and for the state medical cannabis program. The legalization of
retail cannabis does not change the medical cannabis program.
Licensing and operations requirements for production and distribution of medical cannabis are set out in NRS 435A. Each medical
cannabis establishment must register with the NDT and apply for a medical cannabis establishment registration certificate. Among
other requirements, there are minimum liquidity requirements and restrictions on the geographic location of a medical cannabis
establishment as well as restrictions relating to the age and criminal background of employees, owners, officers, and board
members of the establishment. All employees must be over 21 and all owners, officers and board members must not have any
previous felony conviction or had a previously granted medical cannabis registration revoked. Additionally, each volunteer,
employee, owner, officer, and board member of a medical cannabis establishment must be registered with the NDT as a medical
cannabis agent and hold a valid medical cannabis establishment agent card. The establishment must have adequate security
measures and use an electronic verification system and inventory control system. If the proposed medical cannabis establishment
will sell or deliver edible cannabis products or cannabis-infused products, proposed operating procedures for handling such
products which must be preapproved by the NDT.
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On October 11, 2019, Nevada Governor Steve Sisolak had expressed outrage and vowed to tighten control of the state’s lucrative
legal cannabis marketplace in response to reports that a foreign national contributed to two top state political candidates last year
in a bid to skirt rules to open a legal cannabis store. Gov. Sisolak declared in a statement that there has been “lack of oversight
and inaction” of the recreational and medical pot industry by the state Marijuana Enforcement Division. He also said he is
commissioning a multi-agency task force to “root out potential corruption or criminal influences in Nevada’s marijuana
marketplace.”
Effective July 1, 2020, the medical cannabis program in Nevada is now administered by the Cannabis Compliance Board.
To the knowledge of the Company’s management, there have not been any additional statements or guidance made by federal
authorities or prosecutors regarding the risk of enforcement action in the state of Nevada.
Oregon
At present, the state of Oregon has both medical and adult-use cannabis programs. In 1998, Oregon voters passed a limited noncommercial patient/caregiver medical cannabis law with an inclusive set of qualifying conditions that include chronic pain. In
2013, the Oregon legislature passed, and House Bill 3460 created a regulatory structure for existing unlicensed medical cannabis
businesses. However, the original regulations created by the Oregon Health Authority (“OHA”) after the passage of House Bill
3460 were minimal and only regulated storefront dispensaries, leaving cultivators and infused-product manufacturers within the
unregulated patient/caregiver system. On June 30, 2015, Oregon Governor Kate Brown signed House Bill 3400 into law, which
improved on the existing regulatory structure for medical cannabis businesses and created a licensing process for cultivators
(growers) and processors. The OHA is the state agency that licenses and regulates medical cannabis businesses. The medical
cannabis regulatory framework is referred to as the Oregon Medical Marijuana Program.
In November of 2014, Oregon voters passed Measure 91, the “Control, Regulation, and Taxation of Marijuana and Industrial
Hemp Act,” creating a regulatory system for individuals 21 years of age and older to purchase cannabis for personal use from
licensed retail cannabis stores, as well as cultivating cannabis at home. The OLCC licenses and regulates adult-use cannabis
businesses. On October 15, 2015, the OLCC published draft recreational cannabis rules, which were finalized and took effect on
June 29, 2016, as OLCC Division 25 of the Oregon Administrative Rules (“OAR Division 25”). These rules have been updated
on a regular basis since that time, due to administrative prerogative and legislative changes. Currently licensed cannabis companies
in Oregon are not subject to residency requirements. OAR Division 25 will continue to evolve and there is no certainty that
changes will not adversely affect the Company’s operations or financial results, as the changes are subject to OLCC’s review and
approval.
In Oregon, there are six types of recreational cannabis licenses for commercial uses: Producer, Processor, Wholesaler, Retail,
Laboratory, a Certificate for Research, and a Hemp Certificate. While there is no limit on the number of licenses being issued,
state regulators in Oregon had temporarily discontinued processing new adult-use licenses effective June 15, 2018, due to an
oversupplied recreational cannabis market and a backlog of applications in the state.
In February 2018, U.S. Attorney Billy Williams told a gathering that included Gov. Brown, law enforcement officials and
representatives of the cannabis industry that Oregon has an “identifiable and formidable overproduction and diversion problem.”
In May 2018, Attorney Williams issued a memorandum spelling out five U.S. federal enforcement priorities for illegal cannabis
operations that violate US federal laws, with the first priority to crack down on the leakage of surplus cannabis into bordering
states where cannabis is still illegal. The memo also stated that U.S. federal prosecutors will also target keeping cannabis out of
the hands of minors, any crimes that involve violence or firearm violations or organized crime, and cultivation that threatens to
damage U.S. federal lands through improper pesticide and water usage.
To the knowledge of the Company’s management, there have not been any additional statements or guidance made by federal
authorities or prosecutors regarding the risk of enforcement action in the state of Oregon.
Washington
The state of Washington has both medical and adult-use cannabis programs. The original medical law, passed by voters in 1998,
allows physicians to recommend cannabis for an inclusive set of qualifying conditions including chronic pain and created a
patient/caregiver system without explicitly permitting businesses. But, unlike Colorado, the legislature was unable to pass laws
regulating the medical cannabis businesses that developed around 2008.
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On November 6, 2012, Initiative 502 was passed to legalize cannabis for adults 21 years of age and older in 2012. It regulated
adult-use cannabis businesses and left the unregulated medical cannabis establishments in a precarious situation. Christine
Gregoire, then Governor of Washington, signed SB 5052 in 2015, which forced the closure of existing unregulated medical
dispensaries and allows existing adult-use retail cannabis stores to apply for a “medical marijuana endorsement” to sell medical
cannabis tax free to registered qualifying patients and their designated caregivers.
The Washington State Liquor and Cannabis Board (the “WSLCB”) regulates adult-use cannabis businesses and those with a
medical endorsement. The WSLCB licenses cultivation facilities, product manufacturing facilities (“processors”), retail stores,
transportation licensees, and testing facilities. All individuals and entities considered a “true party of interest” in a cannabis
business license must have at least six months of Washington residency.
Unlike many other states, the state of Washington prohibits vertical integration between adult-use cannabis retailers and
cultivators. Common ownership between cultivation and processors is permitted. A single entity, and/or principals within an
entity, are limited to no more than three cannabis producer licenses, and/or three cannabis processor licenses, or five retail
cannabis licenses.
On May 13, 2019, Governor Jay Inslee signed Senate Bill 5605, a new law went into effect on July 28, 2019. Beginning that date,
every person convicted of misdemeanor cannabis possession offenses in the state of Washington, who was 21 years of age or
older at the time of the offense, may apply to the sentencing court to vacate his or her conviction record for the cannabis offense.
And if an individual has multiple cannabis convictions from different courts, then the individual will need to apply to vacate each
conviction separately in the court in which the conviction was prosecuted. The court will then vacate that qualifying individual’s
cannabis conviction record.
On April 1, 2020, in an effort to ensure the spoils of cannabis legalization are available to everyone, Gov. Inslee signed a bill to
allow state regulators to funnel unused cannabis business licenses to people from communities that have been negatively impacted
by the drug war. The legislation came at the request of state cannabis regulators, who have pointed out that Washington’s
legalization law, which voters approved in 2012, failed to include any provisions aimed at addressing past prohibition harms. The
new law aims to diversify the industry by issuing more business licenses to people negatively affected by drug law enforcement
and providing them with technical assistance to get their companies off the ground. It creates a state Marijuana Equity Task Force
and allows the WSLCB to grant forfeited, canceled, revoked or otherwise unissued cannabis business licenses to qualified equity
applicants. “House Bill 2870 creates a new social equity program that provides business opportunities to people from
disproportionately-harmed communities so they can benefit economically from the cannabis industry and become a cannabis
retailer,” Gov. Inslee said in a statement issued from his office.
To the knowledge of the Company’s management, there have not been any additional statements or guidance made by federal
authorities or prosecutors regarding the risk of enforcement action in the state of Washington.
Risk Factors
There are numerous and varied risks, known and unknown, that may prevent the Company from achieving its goals. If any of
these risks occur, the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operation may be adversely affected. In such case, the
trading price of the Company’s common shares could decline, and investors could lose all or part of their investment. The
following is a summary of risks that could be applicable to the business of the Company:
Portfolio exposure
Given the nature of the Company’s investment activities, its results of operations and financial condition are dependent upon the
market value of securities that comprise the Company’s investments portfolio. Quinsam invests primarily in small-cap businesses
which the Company believes exhibit potential for growth and sustainable cash flows, but which may not ever mature or generate
returns the Company expects or may require a number of years to do so.
Cannabis companies may never achieve commercial discoveries and productions. This may create an irregular pattern in the
Company’s revenue and profitability. Additionally, macro factors such as fluctuations in commodity prices and global political,
economic and market conditions could all have an adverse effect on one or more sectors to which the Company is exposed, and
a disproportionate effect on the sectors as compared to the overall market, thereby negatively impacting one or more of the
portfolio Investees concurrently.
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Risks related to the U.S. regulatory environment
As a specialty investor which has interest in the cannabis industry, the Company has made, and will continue to make, substantial
investments in entities operating in a highly regulated industry which is rapidly evolving. As such, new risks may emerge, and
management may not be able to predict all such risks or be able to predict how such risks may result in actual results differing
from the results contained in any forward-looking statements.
Investees incur ongoing costs and obligations related to regulatory compliance. Failure to comply with regulations may result in
additional costs for corrective measures, penalties or in restrictions of operations. In addition, changes in regulations, more
vigorous enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events could require extensive changes to operations, increased compliance
costs or give rise to material liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and
financial condition of the business units and, it may may negatively affect the performance of the Company’s investments
portfolio.
The industry is subject to extensive controls and regulations, which may significantly affect the financial condition of market
participants. The marketability of any product may be affected by numerous factors that are beyond the control of the Investees
and which cannot be predicted, such as changes to government regulations, including those relating to taxes and other government
levies which may be imposed. Changes in government levies, including taxes, could reduce the Investees’ earnings and could make
future capital investments or their operations uneconomic. The industry is also subject to numerous legal challenges, which may
significantly affect the financial condition of market participants, and which cannot be reliably predicted.
The Company is expected to have a substantial portion of its revenues derived from its investments in Investees that
are engaged in the cannabis industry in certain states of the U.S., which industry is illegal under U.S. federal law.
Quinsam is indirectly involved in cannabis-related activities in the U.S., through the entities held in the Company’s
investments portfolio, which may engage in the cultivation or distribution of cannabis in the U.S. The enforcement of
relevant laws is a significant risk.
Over half of the states in the U.S. have enacted legislation to regulate the sale and use of medical cannabis without
limits on THC, while other states have regulated the sale and use of medical cannabis with strict limits on the levels of
THC. Other U.S. states had also legalized cannabis for adult use. Notwithstanding the permissive regulatory
environment of medical or adult-use cannabis at the state level, cannabis continues to be categorized as a Schedule 1
controlled substance under the FCSA. As such, cannabis-related practices, or activities, including without limitation,
the cultivation, manufacture, importation, possession, use or distribution, are illegal under U.S. federal law. Strict
compliance with state laws with respect to cannabis will neither absolve the Company and its Investees of liability
under U.S. federal law, nor will it provide a defense to any federal proceeding which may be brought against them. Any
such proceedings brought against the Investees may adversely affect the Company’s financial performance.
Because of the conflicting views between state legislatures and the federal government of the U.S. regarding cannabis,
investments in cannabis businesses in the U.S. are subject to inconsistent legislation, regulation, and enforcement.
Unless and until the U.S. Congress amends the FCSA with respect to cannabis or the Drug Enforcement Agency
reschedules or de-schedules cannabis (and as to the timing or scope of any such potential amendments there can be
no assurance), there is a risk that federal authorities may enforce current federal law, which would adversely affect the
current and future investments of the Company in the U.S. As a result of the tension between state and federal law,
there are a number of risks associated with the Company’s existing and future investments in the US.
Regulatory changes and compliance
The Company’s activities, as well as those of the Investees, are subject to regulation by governmental authorities. Achievement
of the Company’s business objectives are contingent, in part, upon compliance with regulatory requirements enacted by these
governmental authorities and obtaining all regulatory approvals, where necessary, for the sale of its products. The Company
cannot predict the time required for certain of its Investees to secure all appropriate regulatory approvals for its products, or the
extent of testing and documentation that may be required by governmental authorities. Any delays in obtaining, or failure to
obtain regulatory approvals would significantly delay the development of markets and products and could have a material adverse
effect on these Investees’ business and results of operations, which may negatively affect the performance of the Company’s
investments portfolio.

27

Quinsam Capital Corporation

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
Certain Investees’ operations are subject to a variety of laws, regulations and guidelines relating to the manufacture, management,
transportation, storage, and disposal of cannabis but also including laws and regulations relating to health and safety, the conduct
of operations and the protection of the environment. The Company cannot predict the nature of any future laws, regulations,
interpretations, policies, or applications, nor can it determine what effect additional governmental regulations or administrative
interpretations or procedures, when and if promulgated, could have on the Investees’ operations. Changes to such laws,
regulations, and guidelines due to matters beyond the control of the Investees may cause adverse effects to the Company’s
operations.
Local, state, and federal laws and regulations governing cannabis for medicinal and adult-use purposes are broad in scope and are
subject to evolving interpretations, which could require certain Investees the invest to incur substantial costs associated with
bringing the operations into compliance. In addition, violations of these laws, or allegations of such violations, could disrupt the
Investees’ operations and result in a material adverse effect on its financial performance. It is beyond the Company’s scope to
predict the nature of any future change to the existing laws, regulations, policies, interpretations or applications, nor can the
Company determine what effect such changes, when and if promulgated, could have on the Company’s investments portfolio.
U.S. federal laws on cannabis industry
Cannabis is illegal under U.S. federal laws and enforcement of relevant laws is a significant risk. Therefore, the business
operations of many of the cannabis-related securities that the Company invests in, are dependent on U.S. state laws pertaining to
the cannabis industry. Continued development of the cannabis industry is dependent upon continued legislative authorization of
cannabis at the state level. Any number of factors could slow or halt progress in this area. Further, progress, while encouraging,
is not assured. While there may be ample public support for legislative action, numerous factors impact the legislative process.
Any one of these factors could slow or halt legal manufacturer and sale of cannabis, which would negatively impact the return on
the Company’s investments portfolio.
The concepts of “medical cannabis” and “retail cannabis” do not exist under U.S. federal law. The FCSA classifies “marijuana”
as a Schedule I drug. Under U.S. federal law, a Schedule I drug or substance has a high potential for abuse, no accepted medical
use in the U.S., and a lack of safety for the use of the drug under medical supervision. As such, cannabis-related practices, or
activities, including without limitation, the manufacture, importation, possession, use or distribution of cannabis are illegal under
U.S. federal law. Strict compliance with State laws with respect to cannabis will neither absolve the Company of liability under
U.S. federal law, nor will it provide a defense to any federal proceeding which may be brought against the Investees.
Violations of any U.S. federal law and regulations could result in significant fines, penalties, administrative sanctions, convictions
or settlements arising from civil proceedings conducted by either the U.S. federal government or private citizens, or criminal
charges, including, but not limited to, disgorgement of profits, cessation of business activities or divestiture. This could have a
material adverse effect, and as a result the Company, including their reputation and ability to conduct business, their holdings
(directly or indirectly) of medical cannabis licenses in the U.S., and the listing of their securities on various stock exchanges, their
financial position, operating results, profitability or liquidity or the market price of their publicly-traded shares. In addition, it is
difficult for the Company to estimate the time or resources that would be needed for the investigation of any such matters or its
final resolution because, in part, the time and resources that may be needed are dependent on the nature and extent of any
information requested by the applicable authorities involved, and such time or resources could be substantial.
To the Company’s knowledge, 37 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico and Guam allow their residents to use medical
cannabis as of the date of this MD&A. Voters in the states of Alaska, Arizona, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Illinois, Maine,
Massachusetts, Michigan, Montana, Nevada, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, Oregon, Vermont, Virginia and Washington
have approved and have implemented or are implementing regulations to legalize cannabis for adult use. The state laws are in
conflict with the FCSA, which makes cannabis use and possession illegal on a national level. The former Obama administration
has made numerous statements indicating that it is not an efficient use of resources to direct federal law enforcement agencies to
prosecute those lawfully abiding by state-designated laws allowing the use and distribution of medical cannabis. While the status
quo has been maintained by the Trump administration, there is no guarantee that President Biden and his administration will not
change the government’s stated policy regarding the low-priority enforcement of federal laws and decide to enforce the federal
laws to the fullest extent possible.
Any changes in the U.S. federal government’s enforcement of current U.S. federal law could cause adverse financial
impact and remain a significant risk to the Company and its Investees’ businesses, which could in turn have an impact
on the Company’s investments portfolio and financial results.
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The constant evolution of laws and regulations affecting the cannabis industry could detrimentally affect the Company’s
operations. Local, state, and federal medical cannabis laws and regulations are broad in scope and subject to changing
interpretations. These changes may require the Investees to incur substantial costs associated with legal and compliance fees and
ultimately require the Investees to alter its business plan. Furthermore, violations of these laws, or alleged violations, could disrupt
the business of the Investees and result in a material adverse effect on operations. In addition, the Company cannot predict the
nature of any future laws, regulations, interpretations or applications, and it is possible that regulations may be enacted in the
future that will be directly applicable to the business of the Investees, which could have on the Company’s investments portfolio.
Local regulation could change and negatively impact on the Company’s operations
Most U.S. states that permit cannabis for adult-use or medical use provide local municipalities with the authority to prevent the
establishment of medical or adult use cannabis businesses in their jurisdictions. If local municipalities where the Investees or their
Licensed Operators have established facilities decide to prohibit cannabis businesses from operating, the Investees or their
Licensed Operators could be forced to relocate operations at great cost to the Investees, and the Investees or their Licensed
Operators may have to cease operations in such state entirely if alternative facilities cannot be secured.
Reliance on securing agreements with Licensed Producers
The regulatory framework in most states may restrict the Investees from obtaining a License to grow, store and sell cannabis
products. As such, these Investees rely on securing agreements with Licensed Producers in the targeted jurisdictions that have
been able to obtain a License with the appropriate regulatory authorities. Failure of a Licensed Producer to comply with the
requirements of their License or any failure to maintain their License would have a material adverse impact on the business,
financial condition and operating results of the Investees, and indirectly, the operations of the Company. Should the regulatory
authorities not grant a License or grant a License on different terms unfavorable to the Licensed Operators, and should the
Investees be unable to secure alternative Licensed Operators, the business, financial condition and results of the operation of the
Investees would be materially adversely affected.
If the U.S. federal government changes its approach to the enforcement of laws relating to cannabis, the Investees would need to
seek to replace those tenants with non-cannabis tenants, who would likely pay lower rents. It is likely that the Investees would
realize an economic loss on its capital acquisitions and improvements made to its capital assets specific to the cannabis industry,
and the Investees would likely lose all or substantially all of its investments in the markets affected by such regulatory changes.
The Investees may have advanced, and may continue to advance, significant funds to potential sellers in the form of promissory
notes, which the Investees may not be able to collect if the sellers fail to profitably operate its business. There is no assurance that
any or all of the amounts loaned will be recovered by the Investees.
Reliance on third-party suppliers, manufacturers, and contractors
Some of the Investees may intend to maintain a full supply chain for the provision of products and services to the regulated
cannabis industry. Due to the uncertain regulatory landscape for regulating cannabis in Canada and the U.S., these Investees’
third-party suppliers, manufacturers and contractors may elect, at any time, to decline or withdraw services necessary for the
Investees’ operations. Loss of these suppliers, manufacturers and contractors may have a material adverse effect on the Investees’
business and operational results, which could have on the Company’s investments portfolio.
Cash flows and revenue
The Company generates revenue and cash flows primarily from proceeds from the disposition of its investments, in addition to
a lesser degree income from interest, dividend and financial advisory services. The availability of these sources of funds and the
amount of funds generated from these sources are dependent upon various factors, most of which are outside of the Company’s
direct control. The Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if access to the capital markets is hindered,
whether as a result of a downturn in the market conditions generally or to matters specific to the Company, of if the value of the
Company’s investments decline, resulting in lesser proceeds of disposition and capital losses for the Company upon disposition.
Share prices of investments
The Company’s investments in securities of public companies are subject to volatility in the share prices of these Investee
companies. There can be no assurance that an active trading market for any of the subject shares is sustainable. The trading prices
of the subject shares could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors beyond the control of the Company,
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including quarterly variations in the subject companies’ results of operations, changes in earnings, analyst estimates, industry
conditions and general market and economic conditions. Such fluctuations could adversely affect the market price of the
Company’s investments and significantly negatively impact upon the Company’s operating results.
Private or illiquid securities
The Company invests in securities of private issuers with a near term plan to complete a going public transaction. Investments in
private issuers may offer relatively high potential returns, but will also be subject to a relatively high degree of risk. There can be
no assurance that a public market will develop for a private company investment or that the Company will otherwise be able to
realize a return on such investments. The Company may also invest in illiquid securities of public issuers. A period of time may
elapse between the time a decision is made to sell such securities and the time the Company is able to do so, and the value of such
securities could decline during such period. Illiquid investments are subject to various risks, particularly the risk that the Company
will be unable to realize the Company’s investment objectives by sale or other disposition at attractive prices or otherwise be
unable to complete any exit strategy.
Dependence on management
The Company is dependent upon the efforts, skill and business contacts of key members of management, for among other things,
the information and deal flow they generate during the normal course of their activities and the synergies which exist amongst
their various fields of expertise and knowledge. Accordingly, the Company’s continued success will depend upon the continued
service of these individuals who are not obligated to remain employed with the Company. The loss of the services of any of these
individuals could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s revenues, net income and cash flows and could harm the
Company’s ability to maintain and grow existing assets and raise additional funds in the future.
Limited market for securities
There can be no assurance that an active and liquid market for the Company’s common shares will develop or be maintained and
an investor may find it difficult to resell any securities of the Company.
The market price of securities is volatile and may not accurately reflect the long-term value of the Company
Securities markets have a high level of price and volume volatility, and the market price of securities of many companies has
experienced substantial volatility in the past. This volatility may affect the ability of holders of Shares or Warrants to sell their
securities at an advantageous price. Market price fluctuations in the shares and warrants may be due to the Company’s operating
results or its U.S. Investees’ operating results failing to meet expectations of securities analysts or investors in any period,
downward revision in securities analysts’ estimates, adverse changes in general market conditions or economic trends, acquisitions,
dispositions or other material public announcements by the Company or its competitors, along with a variety of additional factors.
These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of the shares and warrants.
Financial markets historically at times experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected the
market prices of equity securities of companies and that have often been unrelated to the operating performance, underlying asset
values or prospects of such companies. Accordingly, the market price of the shares and warrants may decline even if the
Company’s investment results, underlying asset values or prospects have not changed. Additionally, these factors, as well as other
related factors, may cause decreases in investment values that are deemed to be other than temporary, which may result in
impairment losses. There can be no assurance that continuing fluctuations in price and volume will not occur. If such increased
levels of volatility and market turmoil continue, the Company’s operations could be adversely impacted, and the trading price of
the shares and warrants may be materially adversely affected.
Additional financing requirements
The Company anticipates ongoing requirements for funds to support the Company’s growth and may seek to obtain additional
funds for these purposes through public or private equity share offerings. There are no assurances that additional funding will be
available to the Company at all, on acceptable terms or prices. Any additional equity financings may cause shareholders to
experience dilution. Any limitations on the Company’s ability to access the capital markets for additional funds could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to grow its investments portfolio.
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Ability to access public and private capital
The Company has historically, and continues to have, access to both public and private capital in Canada in order to support its
continuing operations. Since the Company had started making investments in entities operating in the cannabis market as a
focused specialty investor, it has completed private placement financings (“Offerings”), including the October 2017 Offering
which raised $2.4 million of capital, the December 2017 Offering which raised $11.5 million, and the March 2018 Offering which
raised $13.1 million for the Company. Although the Company has accessed private financing in the past, there is neither a broad
nor deep pool of institutional capital that is available to cannabis license holders and license applicants, given that cannabis is
illegal under U.S. federal law. There can be no assurance that additional financing, if raised privately, will be available to the
Company when needed or on terms which are acceptable. The Company has never needed to access public equity capital in the
U.S.
Operating risk and insurance coverage
The Company’s insurance coverage is intended to address all material risks to which it is exposed and is adequate and customary
in its current state of operations. However, such insurance is subject to coverage limits and exclusions and may not be available
for the risks and hazards to which the Company is exposed. In addition, no assurance can be given that such insurance will be
adequate to cover the Company’s liabilities or will be generally available in the future or, if available, that premiums will be
commercially justifiable. If the Company were to incur substantial liability and such damages were not covered by insurance or
were in excess of policy limits, or if the Company were to incur such liability at a time when it is not able to obtain liability
insurance, its business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.
Internal controls
Effective internal controls are necessary for the Company to provide reliable financial reports and to help prevent fraud. Although
the Company has undertaken a number of procedures to help ensure the reliability of its financial reports, including those required
of the Company under Canadian securities law, the Company cannot be certain that such measures will ensure that the Company
will maintain adequate control over financial processes and reporting. Failure to implement required new or improved controls, or
difficulties encountered in their implementation, could harm the Company’s results of operations, or cause it to fail to meet its
reporting obligations. If the Company or its auditors discover a material weakness, the disclosure of that fact, even if quickly
remedied, could reduce the market’s confidence in the Company’s financial statements and materially adversely affect the value of
the Company’s equity securities.
Data breaches and privacy law
The Company may be subject to breaches of security at its facilities, or in respect of electronic documents and data storage, and
may face risks related to breaches of applicable privacy laws. The Company has previously provided medical cannabis to patients
and maintains patient records. Due to the sensitive nature of this information, the Company could be found liable if a breach of
security at its facility resulted in the theft, loss, or mishandling of electronic data. If such a breach did occur, the Company could
be liable for fines, penalties and for any third-party liability which could result in a material adverse effect to the financial or
operating condition of the Company.
Liability for activity of employees, contractors, and consultants
The Company could be liable for fraudulent or illegal activity by its employees, contractors and consultants resulting in significant
financial losses to claims or regulatory enforcement actions against the Company. Failure to comply with relevant laws could
result in fines, suspension of licenses and civil or criminal action being taken against the Company. Consequently, the Company
is subject certain risks, including the risk that employees, contractors and consultants may inadvertently fail to follow the law or
purposefully neglect to follow the law, either of which could result in material adverse effects to the financial condition of the
Company.
Disruption of business
Conditions or events including, but not limited to, those listed below could disrupt the Company’s and its Investees’ operations,
increase operating expenses, resulting in delayed performance of contractual obligations or require additional expenditures to be
incurred: (i) extraordinary weather conditions or natural disasters such as hurricanes, tornadoes, floods, fires, extreme heat,
earthquakes, etc.; (ii) a local, regional, national or international outbreak of a contagious disease, including the COVID-19
coronavirus, Middle East Respiratory Syndrome, Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome, H1N1 influenza virus, avian flu, or any
other similar illness could result in a general or acute decline in economic activity (see also, “Public Health Crises, including
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COVID-19”); (iii) political instability, social and labour unrest, war or terrorism; or (iv) interruptions in the availability of basic
commercial and social services and infrastructure including power and water shortages, and shipping and freight forwarding
services including via air, sea, rail and road.
Public health crises
The Company’s business, operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected by the outbreak of epidemics
or pandemics or other health crises beyond our control, including the current outbreak of COVID-19. On January 30, 2020, the
WHO declared the COVID-19 outbreak a global health emergency. Many governments have likewise declared that the COVID19 outbreak in their jurisdictions constitutes an emergency. Reactions to the spread of COVID-19 have led to, among other
things, significant restrictions on travel, business closures, quarantines, and a general reduction in consumer activity. While these
effects are expected to be temporary, the duration of the business disruptions and related financial impact cannot be reasonably
estimated at this time.
Such public health crises can result in volatility and disruptions in the supply and demand for various products and services, global
supply chains and financial markets, as well as declining trade and market sentiment and reduced mobility of people, all of which
could affect interest rates, credit ratings, credit risk and inflation. The risks to the Company of such public health crises also
include risks to employee health and safety and a slowdown or temporary suspension of operations in geographic locations
impacted by an outbreak. At this point, the extent to which COVID-19 may impact the Company is uncertain; however, it is
possible that COVID-19 may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial
condition.
Geopolitical risks
The Company’s business, operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected by Investees, whose operations
may be located at countries or regions which have high geopolitical risks. For example, while the 2021–2022 Russo-Ukrainian
crisis have spurred a rally in precious metal prices including gold and silver, of which both are minerals that certain investee
companies in the Company’s investments portfolio are exploring for, it may have significant long-term impact on investee
companies from the mining sector which have operations in Eastern Europe. While these effects are expected to be temporary,
the duration of any potential business disruptions and related financial impact cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. Such
crises can result in increased cost of operations for investee companies with the mining sector, which may have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
Use of Non-IFRS Financial Measures
This MD&A contains references to “net asset value per share” (basic and diluted) (“NAV”) which is a non-IFRS financial measure.
NAV is calculated as the value of total assets less the value of total liabilities divided by the total number of common shares
outstanding as at a specific date. NAV (diluted) is calculated as total assets less total liabilities divided by the total number of
common shares of the Company outstanding as at a specific date, calculated based upon the assumption that all outstanding
securities of the Company that are convertible into or exercisable for common shares have been converted or exercised. The term
NAV does not have any standardized meaning according to IFRS and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures
presented by other companies. There is no comparable IFRS financial measure presented in Quinsam’s financial statements and
thus no applicable quantitative reconciliation for such non-IFRS financial measure. The Company believes that the measure
provides information useful to its shareholders in understanding our performance and may assist in the evaluation of the
Company’s business relative to that of its peers.
Disclosure of Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
Management has established processes to provide them sufficient knowledge to support representations that they have exercised
reasonable diligence that (i) the audited financial statements do not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state
a material fact required to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under
which it is made, as of the date of and for the periods presented by the audited financial statements; and (ii) the audited financial
statements fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company, as
of the date of and for the periods presented. In contrast to non-venture issuers this MD&A does not include representations
relating to the establishment and maintenance of disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”) and internal control over financial
reporting (“ICFR”). In particular, management is not making any representations relating to the establishment and maintenance
of: controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the Company
in its filings or other reports or submitted under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
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time periods specified in securities legislation; and a process to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. Investors should be aware
that inherent limitations on the ability of management of the Company to design and implement on a cost-effective basis DC&P
and ICFR may result in additional risks to the quality, reliability, transparency and timeliness of filings and other reports provided
under securities legislation.
Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Information
Certain information contained in this MD&A constitutes forward-looking information, which is information regarding possible
events, conditions, or results of operations of the Company that is based upon assumptions about future economic conditions
and courses of action and which is inherently uncertain. All information other than statements of historical fact may be forwardlooking information. Forward-looking information is often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as “seek”,
“anticipate”, “budget”, “plan”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, “forecast”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “predict”, “potential”,
“targeting”, “intend”, “could”, “might”, “should”, “believe” and similar words or phrases (including negative variations)
suggesting future outcomes or statements regarding an outlook. Forward-looking information contained in this MD&A includes,
without limitation, our expectations regarding anticipated investment activities and results, the impact of changes in accounting
policies and other factors on our operating results, and the performance of global capital markets and interest rates. Forwardlooking information involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or events
to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking information. The Company believes the expectations reflected
in the forward-looking information are reasonable, but no assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct
and readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking information contained in this MD&A. Some of the
risks and other factors which could cause results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking information
contained in this MD&A include, but are not limited to: risks relating to investment performance and our ability to generate
taxable income from operations, our ability to realize sufficient proceeds from the disposition of our investments in order to fund
our obligations as they become due (which will be based upon market conditions beyond our control), market fluctuations,
fluctuations in prices of commodities underlying our interests and equity investments, the strength of the Canadian, the U.S. and
other economies, foreign exchange fluctuations, political and economic conditions in the countries in which the interests of the
Company’s investments portfolio are located, and other risks included elsewhere in this MD&A under the headings “Risk Factors”
and “Risk Management” and in the Company’s current annual information form and other public disclosure documents filed with
certain Canadian securities regulatory authorities and available under Quinsam’s profile at www.sedar.com.
Readers are cautioned that the foregoing lists of factors are not exhaustive. Although the Company has attempted to identify
important factors that could cause actual events and results to differ materially from those described in the forward-looking
information, there may be other factors that cause events or results to differ from those intended, anticipated or estimated. The
forward-looking information contained in this MD&A is provided as of the date hereof and the Company undertakes no
obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-looking information, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise, except as otherwise required by law. All forward-looking information contained in this MD&A is expressly qualified
by this cautionary statement.
Management’s Responsibility for Financial Information
Management is responsible for all information contained in this MD&A. The 2021 Financial Statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS and include amounts based on management’s informed judgments and estimates. The financial and
operating information included in this MD&A is consistent with that contained in the 2021 Financial Statements in all material
aspects.
The Audit Committee has reviewed the 2021 Financial Statements and this MD&A with management of Quinsam. The Board
has approved the 2021 Financial Statements and this MD&A on the recommendation of the Audit Committee.
Additional Information
Additional information relating to Quinsam, including its annual management information circular for the Company’s most
recently completed financial year, is available under the Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
May 2, 2022
Roger Dent
Chief Executive Officer
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Shareholders of Quinsam Capital Corporation:
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Quinsam Capital Corporation (the "Company"), which comprise the
statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, and the statements of income and
other comprehensive income, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for
the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audits of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises Management’s Discussion
and Analysis.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audits of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audits or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control.
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.
 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audits and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audits.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Isabella Lee.

Mississauga, Ontario
May 2, 2022

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants

Quinsam Capital Corporation
Statements of Financial Position
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

As at
December 31,
2021
$

As at
December 31,
2020
$

58,385
1,821,589
30,050,279

1,115,647
1,961,298
31,756,698

31,930,253

34,833,643

86,284
109,125
982,015

236,178
108,466
314,808

1,177,424

659,452

Shareholders’ Equity
Share capital (Note 7)
Deferred share units reserve (Note 8)
Share-based payments reserve (Note 9)
Retained earnings

19,554,528
625,700
353,169
10,219,432

20,522,155
455,486
1,892,360
11,304,190

Total Shareholders’ Equity

30,752,829

34,174,191

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

31,930,253

34,833,643

Assets
Cash
Receivables (Note 4)
Investments (Note 5)
Total Assets
Liabilities
Margin facility
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Notes 6 and 11)
Unearned revenue
Income tax payable (Note 12)
Total Liabilities

Nature of operations (Note 1)
Subsequent events (Note 16)

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors
“Roger Dent” (Director)

“Eric Szustak” (Director)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Statements of (Loss) Income and Comprehensive (Loss) Income
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
2021
$

2020
$

1,874,265
(4,206,238)

(2,933,734)
3,316,714

(2,331,973)

382,980

2,028,955

2,713,190

901,219
315,023
312,335
214,173
31,960
22,127
9,383
(92,919)

(151,556)
278,587
347,080
370,057
39,462
33,886
15,201
(76,952)

(1,713,301)

(855,765)

Net (Loss) Income Before Tax
Income tax (expense) recovery (Note 12)

(2,016,319)
(467,373)

2,240,405
199,602

Net (Loss) Income and Comprehensive (Loss) Income

(2,483,692)

2,440,007

(0.02)

0.02

103,494,480

109,376,974

Net Investment Revenue
Net realized gains (loss) on disposals of investments (Note 5)
Net changes in unrealized (loss) gains on investments (Note 5)
Other Income
Interest, advisory services, and other income
Expenses
Allowance (reversal) for expected credit loss, net (Notes 4 and 5)
Professional fees (Note 11)
Stock-based compensation (Notes 8,9 and 11)
Salaries, bonus and other employment benefits (Note 11)
Transfer agent and filing fees
General and administrative
Travel and promotional
Foreign exchange gain

Net (Loss) Income per Share
Basic and diluted (Note 7)
Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding
Basic and diluted (Note 7)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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104,992,106
(4,949,000)
100,043,106

Balance, December 31, 2019
Issuance of dividends
Repurchase of common shares (Note 7)
Stock-based compensation (Notes 8 and 9)
Expiry and cancellation of stock options (Note 9)
Expiry of warrants (Note 10)
Net income and comprehensive income

Balance, December 31, 2020
Issuance of dividends
Repurchase of common shares (Note 7)
Issuance of deferred share units (Note 8)
Stock-based compensation (Notes 8 and 9)
Forfeiture of stock options (Note 9)
Net loss and comprehensive loss

Balance, December 31, 2021

19,554,528

20,522,155
(967,627)
-

Share
Capital
$
21,773,113
(1,250,958)
-

625,700

455,486
154,800
15,414
-

Deferred
Share Units
$
442,521
12,965
-

353,169

1,892,360
296,921
(1,836,112)
-

Share-Based
Payments
$
2,387,201
334,115
(828,956)
-

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Number of
Shares
#
111,172,693
(6,180,587)
-

Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Quinsam Capital Corporation

-

-

Warrants
$
4,154,857
(4,154,857)
-

10,219,432

11,304,190
(517,949)
80,771
1,836,112
(2,483,692)

Retained
Earnings
$
4,000,881
(547,467)
426,956
828,956
4,154,857
2,440,007
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30,752,829

34,174,191
(517,949)
(886,856)
154,800
312,335
(2,483,692)

Total
$
32,758,573
(547,467)
(824,002)
347,080
2,440,007

Quinsam Capital Corporation

Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Operating Activities
Net (loss) income for the year
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Stock-based compensation (Notes 8 and 9)
Net realized (gains) loss on disposals of investments (Note 5)
Unrealized loss (gains) on investments (Note 5)
Interest accrued on debenture investments
Interest and other income received in shares
Allowance (reversal) for expected credit loss, net (Notes 4 and 5)
Foreign exchange gain
Income tax expense (recovery) (Note 12)

2021
$

2020
$

(2,483,692)

2,440,007

312,335
(1,874,265)
4,206,238
165,075
(817,565)
901,219
(98,673)
467,373

347,080
2,933,734
(3,316,714)
(581,821)
(1,632,472)
(151,556)
(568,657)
(199,602)

778,045

(730,001)

(571,219)
27,747
199,834

(25,202)
6,042
116,447
108,466
(374,451)

(343,638)

(168,698)

(14,004,361)
13,831,214
86,284

(3,313,681)
6,725,204
(699,974)

Changes in non-cash working capital:
Receivables
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Notes 6 & 11)
Unearned revenue
Income tax payable (Note 12)
Net additions in investments
Purchases of investments
Proceeds on disposition of investments
Funds drawn from (repayment on) margin facility

(86,863)

2,711,549

347,544

1,812,850

(517,950)
(886,856)

(547,467)
(824,002)

Cash Flows (used in) Financing Activities

(1,404,806)

(1,371,469)

(Decrease) increase in cash
Cash, beginning of year

(1,057,262)
1,115,647

441,381
674,266

58,385

1,115,647

Cash Flows provided by Operating Activities
Financing Activities
Issuance of dividends
Repurchase of common shares (Note 7)

Cash, end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Quinsam Capital Corporation

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
1. Nature of Operations
Quinsam Capital Corporation (“Quinsam” or the “Company”) was incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations
Act on March 18, 2004 in the Province of British Columbia. The Company is an investment and merchant banking firm
focused on the technology, healthcare, mining and exploration, e-sports, and cannabis markets. The Company’s common
shares are listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE”) under the ticker symbol “QCA”.
The Company is domiciled in Canada and its registered and records office is located at 77 King Street West, Suite 2905,
Toronto, Ontario, M5K 1H1, Canada.
2. Basis of Preparation
(a) Statement of Compliance
The Company’s financial statements, including comparatives, have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The
accounting policies set out below were consistently applied to all periods presented unless otherwise noted.
These financial statements were reviewed, approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors (the “Board”)
of the Company on April 29, 2022.
(b) Basis of Presentation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS accounting principles applicable to a going
concern, using the historical cost basis except for the revaluation of investments.
In addition, these financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
(c) Basis of Consolidation
Subsidiaries consist of entities over which the Company is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns as well as the ability
to affect those returns through the power to direct the relevant activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from the date control is transferred to the Company and are-deconsolidated from the date control ceases. The financial
statements include all the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows of the Company and its subsidiary after
eliminating inter-entity balances and transactions.
The following are criteria within IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements, which the Company used to evaluate and
determine that it continues to meet the definition of an Investment Entity:
•
•
•

Obtain funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those investor(s) with investment
management services;
Commits to its investor(s) that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital appreciation,
investment income, or both; and
Measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all its investments on a fair value basis.

The Company has evaluated the above criteria and determine that Quinsam meets the definition of an Investment Entity.
High Standard Royalty Corp. (“High Standard”), the entity which Quinsam had acquired in 2017, is not itself an investment
entity and whose main purpose and activities are providing services relating to the Company’s investment activities. As
such, the Company had concluded that High Standard should be carried at fair value.
(d) Functional Currency
These financial statements have been prepared in Canadian dollars ($), which is also the functional currency of the
Company. The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates.
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Quinsam Capital Corporation

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
2. Basis of Preparation (continued)
(e) Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates
The preparation of these financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on a regular basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.
Going concern
At each reporting period, management exercises judgment in assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern by reviewing the Company’s performance, resources and future obligations.
Fair value of investment in securities not quoted in an active market or private company investments
Where the fair values of financial assets recorded on the statements of financial position, including shares, options,
warrants, convertible debentures and loans investments, cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using
a variety of valuation techniques. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market data where possible, but
where observable market data are not available, management’s judgment is required to establish fair values.
Fair value of financial derivatives
Investments in options, warrants and conversion features of debentures that are not traded on a recognized securities
exchange do not have readily available market values. When there are sufficient and reliable observable market inputs, a
market-based valuation technique such as Black-Scholes valuation model (“Black-Scholes”) is used (see Note 3(b) for
more details).
Valuation of share-based compensation and share purchase warrants
Management determines the costs for share-based compensation and share purchase warrants using market-based
valuation techniques. The fair value of the market-based and performance-based share awards are determined at the date
of grant using generally accepted valuation techniques. Assumptions are made and judgments are used in applying the
valuation techniques. These assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of the share price, expected
dividend yield, future employee turnover rates and future share option and share purchase warrant exercise behaviors and
corporate performance. Such assumptions and judgments are inherently uncertain. Changes in these assumptions affect
the fair value estimates of share-based compensation and share purchase warrants.
Income taxes
Provisions for taxes are made using the best estimate of the amount expected to be paid based on a qualitative assessment
of all relevant factors. The Company reviews the adequacy of these provisions at the end of the reporting period. However,
it is possible that at some future date an additional liability could result from audits by taxing authorities. Where the final
outcome of these tax‑related matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will affect
the tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
Expected credit losses on financial assets
Determining an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt financial assets not held at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) requires management to make assumptions about the historical patterns for the probability of
default, the timing of collection and the amount of incurred credit losses, which are adjusted based on management’s
judgment about whether economic conditions and credit terms are such that actual losses may be higher or lower than
what the historical patterns suggest.
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Quinsam Capital Corporation

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
2. Basis of Preparation (continued)
(e) Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates (continued)
Expected credit losses on financial assets (continued)
For receivables, the Company applies the simplified approach as permitted by IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”),
whereby lifetime ECL are recognized based on aging characteristics and credit worthiness of customers and investee
companies. Specific provisions may be used where there is information that a specific customer or investee company’s
ECL have increased.
3. Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Revenue
Realized gains (losses) on disposals of investments and unrealized gains (losses) on securities classified as FVTPL are
reflected in the statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income on the transaction date and are calculated
on an average cost basis. For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost and interest-bearing financial assets,
interest income or expenses are recorded using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument, or a shorter period where
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.
Upon disposal of an investment, previously recognized unrealized gains or losses are reversed to recognize the full realized
gains or losses in the period of disposition.
Other investment income, include but is not limited to, interest from loans and debentures investments recognized on the
accrual basis, and advisory and consulting services income which are recognized as services are performed, while dividend
income is recognized on receipt. Investment income are considered operating income for cash flow purposes.
(b) Financial Instruments
The Company classifies and measures financial instruments in accordance with IFRS 9. A financial instrument is any
contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. The
Company recognizes financial assets and financial liabilities on the statements of financial position when it becomes a
party to the financial instruments or derivative contract.
Classification
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: (a) those to be measured subsequently
at FVTPL; (b) those to be measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”); and
(c) those to be measured at amortized cost. The classification of financial assets depends on the business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows. Financial liabilities are classified as those to be
measured at amortized cost unless they are designated as those to be measured subsequently at FVTPL (irrevocable
election at the time of recognition). For assets and liabilities measured at fair value, gains and losses are recorded in profit
or loss.
The Company reclassifies financial assets when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.
Financial liabilities are not reclassified. The Company’s financial assets include cash, investments, and receivables excluding
any sales tax recoverable. The Company’s financial liabilities include its margin facility and accounts payable and accrued
liabilities.
Fair value through profit or loss
This category includes derivative instruments as well as quoted equity instruments which the Company has not irrevocably
elected, at initial recognition or transition, to classify at FVTOCI. This category would also include debt instruments whose
cash flow characteristics fail the solely principal and interest (“SPPI”) criterion or are not held within a business model
whose objective is either to collect contractual cash flows, or to both collect contractual cash flows and sell. Financial
assets and financial liabilities classified in this category are recorded at fair value with changes recognized in profit or loss.
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Quinsam Capital Corporation

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(b) Financial Instruments (continued)
Classification (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Equity instruments that are not held-for-trading can be irrevocably designated to have their change in FVTOCI instead of
through profit or loss. This election can be made on individual instruments and is not required to be made for the entire
class of instruments. Attributable transaction costs are included in the carrying value of the instruments. Financial assets
at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value and changes therein are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).
As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company did not have any financial assets at FVTOCI.
Amortized cost
This category includes financial assets that are held within a business model with the objective to hold the financial assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows that meet the SPPI criterion. Financial assets and financial liabilities classified in
this category are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
The Company’s classification of financial assets and financial liabilities is summarized below:
Cash
Receivables
Investments
Margin facility
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Amortized cost
Amortized cost
FVTPL
Amortized cost
Amortized cost

Measurement
All financial instruments are required to be measured at fair value on initial recognition, plus, in the case of a financial asset
or financial liability not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of the
financial asset or financial liability. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at FVTPL are
expensed in profit or loss. Financial assets and financial liabilities with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety
when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.
Financial assets that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that
have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortized cost at the end of the subsequent accounting periods. All other financial assets including equity
investments are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent accounting periods, with any changes taken through
profit and loss or other comprehensive income (loss) (irrevocable election at the time of recognition). For financial
liabilities measured subsequently at FVTPL, changes in fair value due to credit risk are recorded in other comprehensive
income (loss).
Expected credit loss impairment model
Under IFRS 9, the Company recognizes a provision for ECL on financial assets that are measured at amortized costs. The
Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.
The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Company in full or when the financial asset is more than 90 to 180 days past due.
The carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts.
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Quinsam Capital Corporation

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(b) Financial Instruments (continued)
Derecognition
The Company derecognizes financial assets only when the contractual rights to cash flows from the financial assets expire,
or when it transfers the financial assets and substantially all of the associated risks and rewards of ownership to another
entity.
The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled, or expire. The
Company also derecognizes a financial liability when the terms of the liability are modified such that the terms and/or
cash flows of the modified instrument are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the
modified terms is recognized at fair value.
Gains and losses on derecognition are generally recognized in profit or loss.
Determination of fair value
The determination of fair value requires judgment and is based on market information, where available and appropriate.
The Company classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs
used in making the measurements.
The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:
•
•
•

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

At the end of each reporting period, management estimates the fair value of investments based on the criteria below and
reflects such valuations in the financial statements:
i. Securities including shares, options and warrants which are traded in an active market, such as on a recognized
securities exchange and for which no sales restrictions apply, are presented at fair value based on quoted closing
trade prices at the end of the reporting period or the closing trade price on the last day the security traded if there
were no trades at the end of the reporting period. These are included in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy (see
Note 5).
ii. For options, warrants and conversion features of debentures which are not traded on a recognized securities
exchange, no market value is readily available. When there are sufficient and reliable observable market inputs, a
valuation technique is used. Valuation models such as Black-Scholes are used when there are sufficient and reliable
observable market inputs. These market inputs include risk-free interest rate, exercise price, market price at the
date of valuation, expected dividend yield, expected life of the instrument and expected volatility of the underlying
security based on historical volatility. These are included in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy (see Note 5).
iii. Convertible debentures and loans issued by investee companies are generally valued at the price at which the
instrument was issued. The Company regularly considers whether any indications of deterioration in the value of
the underlying business exist, which suggest that the debt instrument will not be fully recovered. The fair value of
convertible debentures is measured using valuation techniques such as Black-Scholes.
The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a
degree of judgment and assumptions provided by management is required in establishing fair values. Judgments
include consideration of inputs such as credit risk, discount rates, volatility, probability of certain triggering events,
and share price of private company borrowers. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could affect the
reported fair value of the financials instruments. These are included in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (see Note
5).
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Quinsam Capital Corporation

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(b) Financial Instruments (continued)
Determination of fair value (continued)
Private company investments
All privately held investments (including options, warrants and conversion features) are initially recorded at the transaction
price, being the fair value at the time of acquisition. At the end of each reporting period, the fair value of an investment
may (depending upon the circumstances) be adjusted using one or more of the valuation indicators described below. These
are included in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (see Note 5).
The determination of fair value of the Company’s privately held investments at other than initial cost, is subject to certain
limitations. Financial information for private companies in which the Company has investments may not be available and,
even if available, that information may be limited and/or unreliable.
The use of the valuation approaches described below may involve uncertainties and determinations based on
management’s judgment and any value estimated from these techniques may not be realized or realizable.
Company-specific information is considered when determining whether the fair value of a privately held investment should
be adjusted upward or downward at the end of each reporting period. In addition to company-specific information, the
Company will also consider trends in general market conditions and the share performance of comparable publicly traded
companies when valuing privately held investments.
The fair value of a privately held investment may be adjusted if:
i. There has been a significant subsequent equity financing provided by outside investors at a valuation different than
the current value of the investee company, in which case the fair value of the investment is set to the value at which
that financing took place.
ii. There have been significant corporate, political, or operating events affecting the investee company that, in
management’s opinion, have a material impact on the investee company’s prospects and therefore its fair value. In
these circumstances, the adjustment to the fair value of the investment will be based on management’s judgment
and any value estimated may not be realized or realizable.
iii. The investee company is placed into receivership or bankruptcy.
iv. Based on financial information received from the investee company, it is apparent to the Company that the investee
company is unlikely to be able to continue as a going concern.
v. Release by the investee company of positive/negative operational results; and
vi. Important positive/negative management changes by the investee company that the Company’s management
believes will have a very positive/negative impact on the investee company’s ability to achieve its objectives and
build value for shareholders.
Adjustments to the fair value of a privately held investment will be based upon management’s judgment and any value
estimated may not be realized or realizable. The resulting values for non-publicly traded investments may differ from
values that would be realized if a ready market existed.
In addition, the amounts at which the Company’s privately held investments could be currently disposed of may differ
from the carrying value assigned.
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Quinsam Capital Corporation

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(c) Foreign Currency Translation
The Company invests from time to time on securities which are denominated in currencies other than Canadian dollars.
On initial recognition, these investments are recorded by applying the foreign currency amount based on the spot exchange
rate on the transaction date.
At the end of each reporting period, the investments are translated to the functional currency using the closing spot
exchange rate. The resulting gain or loss is recorded as part of the net unrealized gains (losses) for the period in the
statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income.
(d) Provisions
A provision is recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount of the obligation
can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks
specific to the liability.
A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the Company from a contract
are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract.
As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had no material provisions.
(e) Income Taxes
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates
to items recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive income (loss), in which case the income tax is also recognized
directly in equity or other comprehensive income (loss).
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted at the end of the
reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Current tax assets and current tax liabilities
are only offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset the amounts and the Company intends to settle on a net basis,
or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of all qualifying temporary differences arising between the tax basis of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined on a non-discounted
basis using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the deferred tax asset or liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it
is probable that the assets can be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent future recovery is probable. At each reporting period end, deferred tax
assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable earnings will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.
(f)

Share Capital

In situations where the Company issues units, the value of units is bifurcated and the value of warrants is included as a
separate reserve for warrants of the Company’s equity.
(g) Share Issuance Costs
Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of share capital are netted against the proceeds received. Costs related to
the issuance of share capital and incurred prior to issuance are recorded as deferred share issuance costs and subsequently
netted against proceeds when they are received.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Share-Based Payments Transactions
The Company operates a stock option plan (the “Option Plan”), which is administered by the Board. Share-based
payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the instruments issued and amortized over the vesting periods.
Share-based payments to non-employees are measured at the fair value of goods or services received, or at the fair value
of the equity instruments issued, if it is determined the fair value of the goods or services cannot be reliably measured and
are recorded at the date the goods or services are received. The grant date fair value of options is determined using Black–
Scholes. The fair value of equity-settled share-based payments transactions are recognized as an expense with a
corresponding increase in share-based payments reserve.
The number of shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each reporting period such that
the amount ultimately recognized for services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted is based on the
number of equity instruments that eventually vest.
For options that expire after vesting, the recorded value is transferred to retained earnings. Expired warrants are also
transferred to retained earnings.
The Company also operates a deferred share unit plan (the “DSU Plan”). DSUs are equity-settled share-based payments
and are measured at fair value on the date of grant, based on the closing price of the Company’s common shares on the
grant date. Share-based compensation is recognized over the vesting period with a corresponding credit to deferred share
unit reserve. Under IFRS, the Company’s DSUs are classified as equity-settled share-based payment transactions as they
are settled in common shares at the sole discretion of the Company.
(i)

Basic and Diluted (Loss) Earnings per Share

Basic (loss) income per share is calculated by dividing the net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding in the period, adjusted for shares held in escrow that are subject
to contingent release based on conditions other than the passage of time. For all periods presented, the net (loss) income
attributable to common shareholders equals the reported (loss) income attributable to owners of the Company.
Diluted (loss) income is calculated by the treasury stock method. Under the treasury stock method, the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding for the calculation of diluted earnings per share assumes that the proceeds to be
received on the exercise of dilutive share options and warrants are used to repurchase common shares at the average
market price during the period. When a loss is incurred during a period, basic and diluted loss per share are the same
because the exercise of share equivalents is then considered to be “anti-dilutive”.
(j)

Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be
related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or
corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.
(k) New Accounting Pronouncements
The Company adopted the following amendments, effective January 1, 2021. These changes were made in accordance
with the applicable transitional provisions.
Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”)
In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 which clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as either
current or non-current by: (i) specifying that the conditions which exist at the end of the reporting period determine if a
right to defer settlement of a liability exists; (ii) clarifying that settlement of a liability refers to the transfer to the
counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services; (iii) clarifying that classification is unaffected by
management’s expectation about events after the balance sheet date; and (iv) clarifying the classification requirements for
debt an entity may settle by converting it into equity.
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(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(k) New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)
Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”) (continued)
The amendments clarify existing requirements, rather than make changes to the requirements, and so are not expected to
have a significant impact on an entity’s financial statements. However, the clarifications may result in reclassification of
some liabilities from current to non-current or vice-versa, which could impact an entity’s loan covenants. Because of this
impact, the IASB has provided a longer effective date to allow entities to prepare for these amendments. In July 2020, the
IASB issued an amendment to defer the effective date of the amendments by one year from its originally planned effective
date to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 due to the impact of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”)
pandemic. The Company early-adopted these amendments as permitted. The Company had assessed that there was no
material impact upon the adoption of the amendments on its financial statements.
(l)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the IASB and the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee have issued the following amendments which are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2022. Many are not applicable or do not have a significant impact to the Company and have been excluded.
The Company is currently assessing the impact upon the adoption of the following amendments on its financial statements:
Amendments to IAS 37 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (“IAS 37”)
In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to update IAS 37. The amendments specify that in assessing whether a contract
is onerous under IAS 37, the cost of fulfilling a contract includes both the incremental costs and an allocation of costs that
relate directly to contract activities. The amendments also include examples of costs that do, and do not, relate directly to
a contract. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022.
Amendments to IAS 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors (“IAS 8”)
In February 2021, the IASB issued Definition of Accounting Estimates, which amended IAS 8. The amendments clarify how
companies should distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates. That distinction is
important because changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively only to future transactions and other future
events, but changes in accounting policies are generally also applied retrospectively to past transactions and other past
events. The amendments to IAS 8 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Early application
is permitted.
4. Receivables

Interest receivable
Other receivables
Total receivables

December 31,
2021
$
1,671,579
150,010
1,821,589

December 31,
2020
$
1,756,288
205,010
1,961,298

Interest receivable
As at December 31, 2021, the Company has accrued interest income of $1,671,579 (December 31, 2020 – $1,756,288),
from its convertible debentures and loan investments.
Other receivables
As at December 31, 2021, the Company had recorded an amount of $150,000 (December 31, 2020 – $150,000) of
consulting fees receivable from an investee company. Subsequent to year-end, the Company received the amount in full
through a debt settlement (see Note 16).

17

Quinsam Capital Corporation

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
4. Receivables (continued)
Other receivables (continued)
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company held certain debt investments of investee companies which had
matured. As the proceeds were more than 30 days past due maturity, management had assessed that there was a low
probability of collection, and accordingly, recorded an allowance for ECL of $626,219 on these investments (2020 –
allowance for ECL of $55,000).
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company settled a full amount of $267,500 from certain debt investments
of an investee company, in exchange for units of the investee company. Upon completion of the settlement, the Company
reversed an ECL amount of $206,556, which was recorded on the statements of income and comprehensive income.
The accumulated allowance for ECL as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 determined under IFRS 9 was as follows:

ECL, December 31, 2019
Additional allowance
Reversal of allowance

Interest accrued
from Investee
Companies
$
-

Receivable
from Investee
Companies
$
206,566
55,000
(206,566)

Other
Amounts
Receivable
$
-

Total
$
206,566
55,000
(206,566)

ECL, December 31, 2020
Additional allowance

-

55,000
626,219

-

55,000
626,219

ECL, December 31, 2021

-

681,219

-

681,219

5. Investments
The Company’s investments portfolio consisted of the following securities as at December 31, 2021:
Fair Value

Equities
Warrants
Convertible debentures
Loans

Cost
$
18,315,544
1,968,683
5,217,235
5,888,044

Level 1
$
10,413,175
237,250
794,576
-

Level 2
$
1,222,731
1,914,583
375,000

Level 3
$
6,638,339
356,546
2,563,188
5,534,891

Total fair
value
$
17,051,514
1,816,527
5,272,347
5,909,891

Total investments

31,389,506

11,445,001

3,512,314

15,092,964

30,050,279

Investments

The Company’s investments portfolio consisted of the following securities as at December 31, 2020:
Fair Value

Equities
Warrants
Convertible debentures
Loans

Cost
$
14,566,206
1,463,671
6,919,232
5,802,676

Level 1
$
6,608,858
584
-

Level 2
$
1,066,339
4,058,635
-

Level 3
$
10,786,074
573,183
2,894,324
5,768,701

Total fair
value
$
17,394,932
1,640,106
6,952,959
5,768,701

Total investments

28,751,785

6,609,442

5,124,974

20,022,282

31,756,698

Investments
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5. Investments (continued)
Level 3 fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the changes in fair value measurements classified at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The
financial instruments are measured at fair value utilizing non-observable market inputs. The net realized gains (loss) on
disposals of investments and the net change in unrealized gains (loss) on investments are recognized in the statements of
(loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income.

December 31, 2021
December 31, 2020

Opening
balance
$
20,022,282
22,205,835

Purchases /
loans
$
7,265,481
1,522,000

Transfers to
Level 1 and 2
$
(7,014,650)
(587,156)

Proceeds
$
(1,476,400)
(10)

Net
realized
loss
$
(876,112)
(1,222,500)

Net
unrealized
loss
$
(2,827,637)
(1,895,887)

Ending
balance
$
15,092,964
20,022,282

Within Level 3, the Company included private company investments and other investment instruments such as convertible
debentures and loans which are not quoted on a recognized securities exchange. The key assumptions used in the valuation
of these instruments include, but are not limited to, the value at which a recent financing was done by the investee
company, company-specific information, trends in general market conditions and the share performance of comparable
publicly traded companies.
When a private company investment changes its status to a publicly-listed investment which meets Level 1 or Level 2
criteria, the investment is transferred out of the Level 3 fair value hierarchy. A transfer is recorded upon the occurrence
of a liquidity transaction for an investee company, which includes, but is not limited to, a business combination between
the entity and a public corporation pursuant to a reverse takeover, merger, amalgamation, arrangement, take-over bid, or
an initial public offering of the entity. The transfers are recorded on the date that such a liquidity transaction is completed.
The following table presents the valuation techniques and the nature of significant inputs used to determine the fair values
of the Level 3 investments as at December 31, 2021:

Investments
Equities
Warrants
Convertible debentures
Loans

Total fair
value Method
Unobservable inputs
$
6,638,339 Transaction price,
Recent purchase price.
indexing per industry
benchmark
356,546 Black-Scholes
Market prices, volatility,
risk-free interest rate.
2,563,188 Black-Scholes
Market prices, volatility,
discount rate.
5,534,891 Discounted cash
Discount rate.
flows

Range of inputs
N/A
100% – 125% volatility
100% – 125% volatility,
20.5% discount rate
8% – 12%

15,092,964
Within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, for those investments valued based on recent financings, management has
determined that there are no reasonably possible alternative assumptions that would change the fair value significantly as
at December 31, 2021 and 2020. For those investments valued based on trends in comparable publicly traded companies
and general market conditions, the inputs can be highly judgmental. A 10% change in the fair value of these investments
would result in a corresponding +/- $1,509,296 (December 31, 2020 +/- $2,002,228) change to the fair value of the
investments. The sensitivity analysis is intended to reflect the uncertainty inherent in the valuation of these investments
under current market conditions, and its results cannot be extrapolated due to non-linear effects that changes in valuation
assumptions may have on the fair value of these investments. Furthermore, the analysis does not indicate a probability of
such changes occurring and it does not necessarily represent the Company’s view of expected future changes in the fair
value of these investments.
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5. Investments (continued)
Level 3 fair value hierarchy (continued)
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company also recorded an allowance of ECL of $275,000 on certain of its
loans investment (2020 – $nil).
6. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Trade payables
Accrued liabilities (Note 11)
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities

December 31,
2021
$
41,060
68,065

December 31,
2020
$
11,178
225,000

109,125

236,178

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities of the Company are principally comprised of amounts outstanding incurred in the
normal course of business.
7. Share Capital
Authorized share capital
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares and preferred shares without par value. The
preferred shares may be issued in one or more series and the directors are authorized to fix the number of shares in each
series and to determine the designation, rights, privileges, restrictions, and conditions attached to the shares of each series.
The Company has not issued any preferred shares to date.
Common shares issued and outstanding as at December 31, 2021 are as follows:

Balance, December 31, 2019
Repurchase of common shares

Number of
common shares
#
111,172,693
(6,180,587)

Amount
$
21,773,113
(1,250,958)

Balance, December 31, 2020
Repurchase of common shares

104,992,106
(4,949,000)

20,522,155
(967,627)

Balance, December 31, 2021

100,307,230

19,554,528

Share capital transactions for the year ended December 31, 2020
On August 28, 2020, the Company commenced a normal course issuer bid (the “Bid”). Under the Bid, all common shares
were purchased on the open market through the facilities of the CSE, and payment for the common shares was made in
accordance with CSE policies. The price paid for the common shares was the prevailing market price at the time of
purchase. During the year ended December 31, 2020, a total of 6,180,587 common shares repurchased for $824,002 were
cancelled and returned to the Treasury.
Share capital transactions for the year ended December 31, 2021
During the year ended December 31, 2021, a total of 4,949,000 common shares of the Company repurchased for $886,856
under a new Bid, were cancelled and returned to the Treasury.
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7. Share Capital (continued)
Basic and diluted (loss) income per share
The calculations of basic and diluted loss for the year ended December 31, 2021 were based on the net loss from operations
attributable to common shareholders of $2,203,329 (2020 – net income of $2,440,007) and the weighted average number
of basic and diluted common shares outstanding of 103,494,480 and 103,494,480, respectively (2020 – 109,376,974 and
103,376,974 basic and diluted common shares, respectively).
The details of the computation of basic and diluted (loss) income per share for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2022 are as follows:
2021
$
(2,483,692)

2020
$
2,440,007

Basic weighted-average number of shares outstanding
Assumed conversion of anti-dilutive stock options and warrants

#
103,494,480
-

#
109,376,974
-

Diluted weighted-average number of shares outstanding

103,494,480

109,376,974

$
(0.02)

$
0.02

Net (Loss) Income and Comprehensive (Loss) Income

Basic and diluted (loss) income per share
8. Deferred Share Units Reserve

The Company operates the DSU Plan, under which, one DSU is equivalent in value to one common share of the Company.
The maximum number of shares that are issuable under the DSU Plan, and in combination with all other equity incentive
plans at any time, shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company. The maximum
number of shares issuable to insiders under the DSU Plan, at any time, shall not exceed 10% of the issued common shares,
and the maximum number of DSUs which may be granted to any one person under the DSU Plan, in any 12-month
period, shall not exceed 5% of the issued common shares calculated on the grant date of such DSU.
Any vesting conditions for DSUs are determined by the Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Board of the Company. Notwithstanding any other provision of the DSU Plan, the Board may in its sole discretion
accelerate and/or waive any vesting or other conditions for all or any DSUs for any participant at any time.
All DSUs credited under the DSU Plan shall remain in the DSU accounts and shall be settled or forfeited in accordance
with the terms of the DSU Plan. Whenever cash dividends or distributions are paid on the common shares of the
Company, additional DSUs will be credited to a participant’s DSU account. The number of such additional DSUs will be
calculated by multiplying the per share dividend rate by the number of DSUs held at that time in the participant’s DSU
account.
DSU issuances for the year ended December 31, 2020
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company granted a total of 118,349.08 DSUs to certain of its officers,
upon distribution of its quarterly dividends in 2020. These DSUs were valued at $12,965 and were recorded as stock-based
compensation.
DSU issuances for the year ended December 31, 2021
On May 31, 2021, the Company granted 774,000 DSUs to an officer, as payment of the management bonus related to the
Company’s portfolio performance, that was accrued for the year ended December 31, 2020. The DSUs vested immediately
on grant and were valued at $154,800.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company also granted a total of 86,166.08 DSUs to certain of its officers,
upon distribution of its quarterly dividends in 2021. These DSUs were valued at $15,414 and were recorded as stock-based
compensation.
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8. Deferred Share Units Reserve (continued)
DSU issuances for the year ended December 31, 2021 (continued)
As at December 31, 2021, the Company had granted a total of 3,528,868.20 DSUs (December 31, 2020 – 2,666,702.12
units) under the DSU Plan.
9. Share-Based Payments Reserve
The Company maintains the Option Plan, whereby certain key employees, officers, directors and consultants may be
granted stock options for common shares of the Company. The maximum number of common shares that are issuable
under the Option Plan is limited to 10% of the number of outstanding common shares. As at December 31, 2021, the
Company had 5,264,310 common shares that are issuable under the Option Plan.
Under the Option Plan, the exercise price of each option may not be less than the market price of the Company’s stock
as calculated on the date of grant less an applicable discount. Options can be granted for a maximum term of five years
and vesting periods are determined by the Board.
The following summarizes the stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

Outstanding, beginning of year
Granted
Expired
Cancelled
Forfeited
Forfeited

December 31, 2021
Weighted
Number of
average
options
exercise price
#
$
7,500,000
0.49
2,240,000
0.19
(3,000,000)
0.48
(2,000,000)
0.60

December 31, 2020
Weighted
Number of average exercise
options
price
#
$
7,800,000
0.49
2,500,000
0.13
(200,000)
0.13
(2,600,000)
0.46
-

Outstanding, end of year

4,740,000

0.16

7,500,000

0.40

Exercisable, end of year

3,281,667

0.17

5,041,667

0.51

Option activities for the year ended December 31, 2020
On August 25, 2020, the Company granted 2,500,000 stock options to various officers and directors. The options are
exercisable at $0.13 per share and vest quarterly over a period of three years. The options were valued using Black-Scholes,
with the following assumptions: expected volatility of 103% based on the historical volatility of the Company, expected
dividend yield of 3.85%, risk-free interest rate of 0.40%, estimated forfeiture rate of 20%, and an expected life of five
years. The grant date fair value attributable to these options was $195,479, of which $71,526 was recorded as stock-based
compensation in connection with the vesting of these options during the year ended December 31, 2021 (2020 – $51,239).
During the year ended December 31, 2020, 2,600,000 stock options were cancelled as a result of resignations of certain
directors. An amount of $828,956 of stock-based compensation previously recorded on these options had been reallocated
to retained earnings.
Option activities for the year ended December 31, 2021
On May 31, 2021, the Company granted 2,240,000 stock options to various officers and directors. The options are
exercisable at $0.19 per share and vested immediately on grant. The options were valued using Black-Scholes, with the
following assumptions: expected volatility of 100% based on the historical volatility of the Company, expected dividend
yield of 2.70%, risk-free interest rate of 0.90%, estimated forfeiture rate of 20%, and an expected life of five years. The
grant date fair value attributable to these options of $208,766 was recorded as stock-based compensation during the year
ended December 31, 2021.
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9. Share-Based Payments Reserve (continued)
Option activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 (continued)
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company also recorded stock-based compensation of $16,629 in
connection with the vesting of options which were granted prior to the current fiscal year (2020 – $282,876).
During the year ended December 31, 2021, 5,000,000 stock options were voluntarily forfeited by certain officers and
directors of the Company. An amount of $1,836,112 of stock-based compensation previously recorded on these options
had been reallocated to retained earnings.
The following table summarizes information of stock options outstanding and exercisable as at December 31, 2021:

Date of expiry
August 25, 2025
May 31, 2026

Number of
options
outstanding
#
2,500,000
2,240,000

Weighted
average
exercise price
– options
outstanding
$
0.13
0.19

4,740,000

0.16

Number of
options
exercisable
#
1,041,667
2,240,000

Weighted
average
exercise price
– options
exercisable
$
0.13
0.19

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual life
Years
3.65
4.42

3,281,667

0.17

4.01

10. Warrants Reserve
The following summarizes the warrant activity for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

Outstanding, beginning of year
Expired
Expired
Expired
Expired
Expired
Outstanding, end of year

December 31, 2021
Weighted
Number of
average
warrants
exercise price
#
$
-

-

December 31, 2020
Weighted
Number of
average
warrants
exercise price
#
$
20,102,217
0.60
(11,201,517)
0.80
(1,751,947)
0.60
(4,000,000)
0.30
(2,844,705)
0.25
(304,048)
0.40
-

-

As at December 31, 2021, the Company did not have any warrants outstanding (December 31, 2020 – nil).
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11. Related Party Transactions and Balances
Key management personnel compensation
Key management includes the Company’s directors, officers and any employees with authority and responsibility for
planning, directing, and controlling the activities of an entity, directly or indirectly.
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel during the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Salaries, bonus and other benefits
Professional fees
Stock-based compensation (Notes 8 and 9)

2021
$
209,373
108,480
312,334

2020
$
370,057
114,130
326,346

630,187

810,533

During the year ended December 31, 2021, officers and directors of the Company were paid compensation benefits of
$209,373 for services rendered (2020 – $370,057 including a provision for management bonus of $150,000, based on 5%
of net investment income), which was charged to salaries, bonus and other benefits. As at December 31, 2021, no
management bonus was included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (December 31, 2020 – $150,000).
During the year ended December 31, 2021, Branson Corporate Services Ltd. (“Branson”), where the Chief Financial
Officer (“CFO”) of the Company is employed, was paid professional fees of $108,480 (2020 – $108,480), for CFO services
provided to the Company, as well as other accounting and administrative services, which are included in professional fees.
As at December 31, 2021, no balance was owed to Branson (December 31, 2020 – $nil).
During the year ended December 31, 2020, a former officer and director of the Company was paid $5,650 for consulting
services provided to the Company, which are included in professional fees.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) and the Chairman of the Company,
were issued 84,330.97 and 3,835.11 DSUs (2020 – 112,431.62 and 5,917.45 DSUs), respectively, upon distribution of the
cash dividends paid (see Note 8), as adjustments in accordance with the terms of the DSU Plan. These DSUs were valued
at $15,414 (2020 – $12,965) and recorded as stock-based compensation.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the CEO of the Company also received 774,000 DSUs as payment of the
management bonus related to the Company’s portfolio performance, that was accrued for the year ended December 31,
2020.
During the year ended December 31, 2021, officers and directors of the Company received stock-based compensation of
$296,921 (2020 – $313,381) on vesting of options granted.
Investments in companies with common management personnel
As at December 31, 2021, the Company held investment positions in the following issuers with common officers and
directors:
Investments
California Nanotechnologies Inc. (1)
Deveron Corp. (1)
Pharmadrug Inc. (2)
Vitalhub Corp. (1)

Common shares
Common shares
Warrants
Common shares

Holdings
#
1,112,000 shares
500,000 shares
375,000 units
84,000 shares

Fair Value
$
94,520
390,000
8,910
277,200
770,630

(1) Roger Dent is also a Director of California Nanotechnologies Inc., Deveron Corp. and Vitalhub Corp.
(2) Keith Li is also the Chief Financial Officer of Pharmadrug Inc.
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12. Income Taxes
The reconciliation of the combined Canadian federal and provincial statutory income tax rate of 26.5% (2020 – 26.5%) to
the effective tax rate as follows:

Net (loss) income before income taxes
Expected income tax (recovery) expense
Stock-based compensation and other non-deductible differences
Change in estimate
Change in tax benefits not recognized
Income tax expense (recovery)

December 31,
2021
$
(2,016,319)

December 31,
2020
$
2,240,405

(534,325)
321,741
809,137
(129,180)

593,707
92,108
(885,417)

467,373

(199,602)

467,373
-

(199,602)
-

467,373

(199,602)

December 31,
2021
$

December 31,
2020
$

The Company’s income tax expense (recovery) is allocated as follows:
Current tax expense (recovery)
Deferred tax expense

Deferred tax
The following table summarizes the components of deferred tax:

Deferred tax assets
Operating tax losses carried forward

-

315,716

Deferred tax liabilities
Marketable securities

-

(315,716)

Net deferred tax liability

-

-

Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset where they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
and the Company has the legal right and intent to offset.
Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Deferred taxes are provided as a result of temporary differences that arise due to the differences between the income tax
values and the carrying amount of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the
following deductible temporary differences:

Share issuance costs
Marketable securities
Operating tax losses carried forward

December 31,
2021
$
417,496
1,295,992
22,767

December 31,
2020
$
1,215,065
589,728

1,736,255

1,804,793

The Canadian operating tax loss carry forwards expire as noted in the table below.
Share issuance costs will be fully amortized in 2022. The remaining deductible temporary differences may be carried
forward indefinitely.
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12. Income Taxes (continued)
Unrecognized deferred tax assets (continued)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the Company can utilize the benefits therefrom.
The Company’s Canadian non-capital income tax losses expire as follows:
$
20,010
1,627
1,130

2038
2039
2040

22,767
13. Risk Management
The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of cash, receivables, investments, margin facility and accounts
payable and accrued liabilities. The Company is exposed to various risks as it relates to these financial instruments.
Management, in conjunction with the Board, mitigates these risks by assessing, monitoring and approving the Company’s
risk management process. There have not been any changes in the nature of these risks or the process of managing these
risks from the previous reporting periods.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The Company’s
credit risk is primarily attributable to cash, and receivables (including loans), which expose the Company to credit risk
should the borrower default on maturity of the instruments. Cash is currently held with a reputable Canadian financial
institution which is available on demand. Management believes that the credit risk concentration with respect to financial
instruments included in cash is minimal. The Company’s second exposure to credit risk is on receivables. At each reporting
period, management assesses the credit risk of its receivables. Where collection risk may exist, the Company may record
an allowance of ECL. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded an allowance of ECL of $626,219
(2020 – reversal of ECL of $151,556) on the receivables.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial obligations as they
come due. The Company manages its liquidity risk by reviewing its capital requirements on an ongoing basis. The
Company’s liquidity and operating results may be adversely affected if the Company’s access to the capital market is
hindered, whether as a result of a downturn in stock market conditions generally or related to matters specific to the
Company. The Company generates cash flow primarily from its financing activities. As at December 31, 2021, the
Company had a cash balance of $58,385 (December 31, 2020 – $1,115,647), and Level 1 investments in shares of
$10,413,175 (December 31, 2020 – $6,608,858) which it can liquidate, to settle current liabilities of $1,177,424 (December
31, 2020 – $659,452).
The following table summarizes the carrying amount and the contractual maturities of both the interest and principal
portion of significant financial liabilities as at December 31, 2021:

Margin facility
Accounts payable

Carrying
amount
$
86,284
109,125

Year 1
$
86,284
109,125

Year 2 to 3
$
-

Year 4 to 5
$
-
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13. Risk Management (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and by continuously monitoring forecast and
actual cash flows for a rolling period of 12 months to identify financial requirements. Where insufficient liquidity may
exist, the Company may dispose of certain of its investments for cash or pursue various debt and equity instruments for
short or long-term financing of its operations.
Management believes there is sufficient capital to meet short-term business obligations, after taking into account cash flow
requirements from operations and the Company’s cash and shares investments position as at December 31, 2021.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the Company will be subject to foreign currency fluctuations in satisfying obligations
related to its foreign activities. The Company invests from time to time into securities, debentures and loan investments
issued and denominated in foreign currencies, notably in United States dollars. The Company’s primary exposure to foreign
exchange risk is that investments in foreign securities may expose the Company to the risk of exchange rate fluctuations.
Due to the low number of investments issued and denominated in foreign currencies, management believes that the foreign
exchange risk with respect to investments is low.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rate. The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its ability to earn interest income
on cash at variable rates. The fair value of the Company’s cash, and convertible debentures and loan investments affected
by changes in short-term interest rates will be minimal. The Company does not use any derivative instruments to reduce
its exposure to interest rate risk.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s financial instruments will significantly
fluctuate due to changes in market prices. The value of the financial instruments can be affected by changes in interest
rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity and commodity prices. The Company is exposed to market risk in trading its
investments and unfavorable market conditions could result in dispositions of investments at less than favorable prices. A
1% change in closing trade price of the Company’s investments portfolio would impact net loss by approximately $301,000
based upon balances as at December 31, 2021.
Concentration risk
Concentration risk is the potential for a loss in value of the Company’s investments portfolio when an individual or group
of exposures move together in an unfavorable direction. The Company is exposed to concentration risk as its investments
portfolio is focused on a few small cap sectors, notably investee companies from the cannabis markets. The potential lack
of diversification and a downturn in a particular industry could result in decreases in the fair value of the investments
portfolio. As at December 31, 2021, cannabis-related investments accounted for approximately 61% of the Company’s
investments portion (December 31, 2020 – 77%).
The Company manages concentration risk by regularly reviewing threshold of industry holdings and rebalancing its
portfolio when needed. The Company also incorporate diversification across investments from different industry.
COVID-19
In December 2019, COVID-19 surfaced in Wuhan, China. The World Health Organization declared a global emergency
on January 30, 2020 with respect to the outbreak then characterized it as a pandemic on March 11, 2020. The outbreak
has spread globally, and there have been surges in cases of COVID-19 in Canada and the United States, and has continued
to cause companies and various international jurisdictions to impose restrictions, such as quarantines, closures,
cancellations and travel restrictions. The duration of the business disruptions internationally and related financial impact
to the global economy remains highly uncertain at this time, as COVID-19 continues to evolve.
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13. Risk Management (continued)
COVID-19 (continued)
To date, the outbreak has not had a material adverse impact on the Company’s operations. As Quinsam has operated on
a “virtual basis” for a number of years, restrictions and the general closure of non-essential businesses in response to the
COVID-19 outbreak has not significantly impacted the Company’s day-to-day operations. However, the future impact of
the outbreak remains potentially and highly uncertain for certain of Quinsam’s investee companies, and may not be
predicted. Until economies stabilize and that such investee companies can demonstrate profitable and sustained level of
operations, there is no assurance that the outbreak will not have a material adverse impact on the future results of the
Company. The extent of the impact, if any, will depend on future developments, including actions taken to contain
COVID-19.
Other risks
The Company may from time to time be subject to risks which are beyond its control, such as the 2021–2022 RussoUkrainian crisis which have spurred a rally in precious metal prices including gold and silver, of which both are minerals
that certain investee companies in the Company’s investments portfolio are exploring for. The Company manages such
risks by regularly rebalancing its portfolio when needed. The Company also assesses potential regulatory and geo-political
risks of the business location of potential investee companies in its selection process.
14. Capital Management
The Company manages its capital, consisting of shareholders’ equity, in a manner consistent with the risk characteristics
of the assets it holds.
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are:
(a) to maintain sufficient liquidity to allow the Company to pursue business opportunities expeditiously; and
(b) to earn investment returns while managing risk.
The Company is meeting its objective of managing capital through its detailed review and performance of due diligence
on all potential investments and acquisitions. Management reviews its capital management approach on an on-going basis
and believes that this approach, given the small size of the Company, is reasonable.
There were no changes in its approach to capital management during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
15. Operating Segment Information
Management is responsible for the Company’s entire investments portfolio and considers the business to have a single
operating segment. The management’s investment decisions are based on a single, integrated investment strategy, and the
performance is evaluated on an overall basis.
The Company has a single reportable geographic segment, Canada, and all of the Company’s management are based in
Canada.
The internal reporting provided to management of the Company’s assets, liabilities, and performance is prepared on a
consistent basis with the measurement and recognition principles of IFRS. There were no changes in the reportable
segments during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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16. Subsequent Events
On January 28, 2022, the Board approved a quarterly dividend of $0.00125 per share. The dividend distribution was paid
on February 25, 2022, to shareholders of record on February 4, 2022. On distribution of the cash dividends, the Company
granted 36,758.85 DSUs at a price of $0.12 to certain of its officers.
On February 16, 2022, the Company settled the $150,000 accrued consulting fees from the investee company as disclosed
in Note 4, through receipt of 2,500,000 shares of the Investee at a price of $0.06 per share.
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